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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

* * * 
Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL 
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER 
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE 
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH 
LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF 
AMERICA, INC.; BINA HRIBIK PORTELLO, 
Administrator; CARL WAGNER, 
Administrator; and DOES 1–50, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

 CASE NO. A-17-750520-C 

DEPT NO. XVII 

Consolidated with: 
CASE NO. A-17-754013-C 

 

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

SAMIR SAXENA, M.D.; ANNABELLE 
SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. 
aka THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.; 
INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA, 
INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF 
NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF 

 DEFENDANTS’ REPLY IN 
SUPPORT OF MOTION TO 

DISMISS OR, IN THE 
ALTERNATIVE, FOR SUMMARY 

JUDGMENT 
 

Case Number: A-17-750520-C
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CLERK OF THE COURT
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NEVADA, INC.; and DOES 51–100, 
 
                                    Defendants. 

 
 

 
COMES NOW Defendants, SAMIR SAXENA, M.D.1; ANNABELLE SOCAOCO, N.P.; 

IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. aka THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.; INPATIENT 

CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA, INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF NEVADA, INC.; 

HOSPITALISTS OF NEVADA, INC. (hereinafter “Dr. Saxena” or “NP Socaoco” or, 

collectively, “IPC Defendants”) by and through their attorneys of record, John H. Cotton, Esq. 

and Vincent J. Vitatoe, Esq., of the law firm of the law firm JOHN H. COTTON & 

ASSOCIATES, LTD., hereby submits this Reply in Support of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, 

or, in the alternative, for Summary Judgment.   

This Reply is made and based upon the papers, pleadings, and records on file herein, the 

attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities, and any oral argument this Court may allow at 

the time of the hearing on this matter.  

I. INTRODUCTION. 

Plaintiffs’ Opposition can be reduced to a single, tenuous argument: the statute of 

limitations was purportedly tolled until Plaintiffs discovered the identity of NP Socaoco. This 

argument falls flat in the context of professional negligence lawsuits in Nevada and based upon 

the procedural history of this case. 

First, the explicit language of NRS 41A.071 specifically states that the conduct—and not 

the name—provides the information sufficient to bring a lawsuit. This is a fatal distinction 

Plaintiffs fail to address which undermines their non-professional negligence case law.  

Second, Plaintiffs initially sued Dr. Saxena based upon the conduct they now attribute to 

NP Socaoco. The problem? The suit brought against Dr. Saxena was itself brought after the 
                                                 
1  Plaintiffs agreed to dismiss Dr. Saxena from this case with prejudice. This Court granted Dr. 
Saxena’s Motion for Good Faith Settlement on June 13, 2018. A stipulation and order to dismiss 
will be filed imminently once the written order is signed.   
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statute of limitations expired. Thus, Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint adding NP Socaoco (and the 

IPC entities) relates back to an untimely professional negligence case first brought against Dr. 

Saxena. Plaintiffs were able to bring suit against Life Care within one year from the date Mary 

Curtis erroneously received morphine. However, Plaintiffs’ inexplicable delay in filing suit 

against Dr. Saxena (and, subsequently, NP Socaoco/IPC) is case dispositive.  

Third, Plaintiffs failed to even attempt to contest Plaintiff Laura Latrenta’s clear, 

unequivocal admissions that she subjectively knew facts regarding (a) the negligent 

administration of morphine, (b) the administration of Narcan, and (c) criticisms from other 

providers of health care regarding the Narcan IV drip and purported failure to timely transfer 

Curtis to a hospital. Stated differently, Plaintiffs do not contest and, therefore, concede Plaintiff 

Laura Latrenta knew, in March of 2016, the very facts which would become the exact basis for 

her present lawsuit against the IPC Defendants.  

Finally, for some reason, Plaintiffs contend—even after this Court’s extremely clear 

ruling—that they can maintain elder abuse claims against the IPC entities. Of course they offer 

no analysis of NRS 41A.017, a statute which refutes their contention. 

 ADDITIONAL UNDISPUTED FACTS. 

1. On January 2, 2018, Plaintiff Laura Latrenta served answers to Interrogatories 

propounded by Defendant Life Care. Exhibit A. 

2. Defendant Life Care’s Interrogatory 18 asked for “any conversations with anyone 

during which they criticized the care and treatment received by the decedent at 

Defendants’ facility [Life Care].” Id. at ROG 18.  

3. Latrenta included the following as part of her response to Interrogatory 18: 

“In addition, Ms. Latrenta had conversations with health care providers at Sunrise 

Hospital and Nathan Adelson Hospice pertaining to the extent of the injuries of Mary 
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Curtis as a result of being provided the morphine, including but not limited to 

conversations with Jason Katz, MD and Robert Firestone, RN. See Ms. Latrenta’s 

deposition testimony and Plaintiff’s disclosure statement and all supplements.” 

(Emphasis added). Id.  

II. SUMMARY OF UNDISPUTED FACTS RELEVANT TO MOTION. 
 

4. On March 7, 2016, an employee of Life Care erroneously supplied morphine to Mary 

Curtis. 

5. On the same day, Latrenta was explicitly informed about the morphine overdose and 

the amount (120mg). 

6. Latrenta testified that she recognized the gravity of the situation: “I know enough 

above morphine to know that that is a terrible dose.”  

7. Also on March 7, 2016, Latrenta testified that she witnessed two shots of Narcan 

being administered to Curtis and understood why it was provided. Specifically, she 

testified she “knew what that [Narcan] was because that was in the news about people 

with overdose…I knew what it was. And she got two of them.” 

8. On March 8, 2016, Curtis was transferred to Sunrise Hospital where she remained 

until March 11, 2016.  

9. During Curtis’s time at Sunrise Hospital, a health care professional explicitly told 

Latrenta that “they should have brought her [Curtis] here as soon as this happened, 

and we could have put her on a Narcan drip.” When pressed further as to the identity 

of this individual, Latrenta testified that her best recollection was that the individual’s 

name was “Jason.”  
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10. Latrenta’s response to Interrogatory 18 specifically identified “Jason Katz, MD” as an 

individual with whom she had conversations regarding the injuries of Mary Curtis as 

being the result of morphine. 

11. During Curtis’s time to Sunrise Hospital, Latrenta also admitted that “all” of the 

physicians at Sunrise conveyed to her that Curtis’s “organs were shutting down from 

morphine.”  

12. On March 11, 2016, Curtis was transferred to Nathan Adelson Hospice where she 

passed away that same day.  

13. On February 2, 2017, Plaintiff filed a Complaint against Life Care Center.  

14. The Complaint against Life Care Center asserts issues with the administration of 

morphine and a failure to timely transfer Curtis during the March 7 and 8, 2016 

timeframe. 

15. On April 14, 2017, Plaintiff filed a separate Complaint against Dr. Saxena. 

16. The Complaint claimed medical malpractice based on an alleged failure to (a) timely 

transfer Curtis, and (b) use a Narcan IV drip as opposed to shots of Narcan. These are 

the identical criticisms communicated to Latrenta by Dr. Jason Katz and other health 

care providers sometime between March 8 and March 11, 2016.  

17. The Amended Complaint adding NP Socaoco and the IPC entities assert the exact 

same causes of action based upon the exact same conduct and purported deviations 

from the standard of care.   
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III. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS APPLIES. 
 
a. Siragusa is Inapplicable in this Professional Negligence Case. 

 
Plaintiffs rest their entire opposition on the case of Siragusa v. Brown, 114 Nev. 1384, 

1400 (1998). However, as this Court is well aware, professional negligence torts are treated 

much differently that other negligence-based torts. Indeed, an entire chapter of the Nevada 

Revised Statutes is devoted to these types of cases. The Nevada Supreme Court has explicitly 

held that NRS 41A takes precedence over more general legal authorities when professional 

negligence is at issue. Piroozi v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 100, 363 P.3d 1168  

(2015).  

When the professional negligence statutes are reviewed, Plaintiffs’ reliance on Siragusa 

falls apart. Specifically, NRS 41A.071 states the following (emphasis added): 

NRS 41A.071  Dismissal of action filed without affidavit of medical expert.  If an 
action for professional negligence is filed in the district court, the district court shall 
dismiss the action, without prejudice, if the action is filed without an affidavit that: 
      1.  Supports the allegations contained in the action; 
      2.  Is submitted by a medical expert who practices or has practiced in an area that is 
substantially similar to the type of practice engaged in at the time of the alleged 
professional negligence; 
      3.  Identifies by name, or describes by conduct, each provider of health care who is 
alleged to be negligent; and 
      4.  Sets forth factually a specific act or acts of alleged negligence separately as to 
each defendant in simple, concise and direct terms. 
 
The current iteration of NRS 41A.071 occurred well after the Siragusa case. Indeed, the 

enactment of NRS 41A itself occurred after the Siragusa case. The reality of professional 

negligence cases is that the purportedly negligent conduct alone of a provider of health care is 

sufficient to bring suit. See NRS 41A.071(3). The focus on the actual conduct of providers of 

health care in terms of initiating suit is understandable in these types of cases where literally 

dozens of different providers of health care may care for a patient. The concept is again reflected 

in the controlling NRS 41A statute governing time limitations to bring suit within one year “after 

the plaintiff discovers or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the 
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injury… based upon alleged professional negligence…[or] from error or omission in practice.” 

See NRS 41A.097. The real question is when a person should reasonably begin investigating 

whether some negligent conduct occurred, also known as inquiry notice. 

However, what must be remembered in this case is that two Complaints were filed: one 

against Life Care within one year of the March 2016 events and one against Dr. Saxena more 

than one year after the March 2016 event. The Plaintiffs just incorrectly identified the provider 

of health care as Dr. Saxena when, in reality, it was NP Socaoco. However, the purportedly 

negligent conduct is exactly the same. The fact that the conduct is the same is the fatal flaw in 

Plaintiffs’ argument. 

 At the absolute most, Plaintiffs should be able to relate their claims against NP Socaoco 

back to the date they filed their Complaint against Dr. Saxena. The date of the Complaint against 

Dr. Saxena is April 14, 2017—more than one year after Mary Curtis died on March 11, 2016. 

Plaintiffs do not even attempt to contest the (repeatedly) admitted fact that Plaintiff Laura 

Latrenta actually, subjectively knew that (a) morphine was improperly administered to Mary 

Curtis on March 7, 2016 by a Life Care employee, (b) a Narcan IV drip was not provided, and 

(c) Curtis was not immediately transferred to a hospital. Plaintiffs also do not attempt to contest 

the admissions that Plaintiff Laura Latrenta was explicitly told by other providers of health 

care—in mid-March of 2016—that they were critical of conduct (b) and (c). Conduct (b) and (c) 

are the precise facts that Plaintiffs claim constitute professional negligence. The failure of 

Plaintiffs to contest these admissions of Plaintiff Latrenta’s actual knowledge of this conduct in 

March of 2016 is a concession to the merit of Defendants’ argument. Polk v. State, 126 Nev. 

180, 233 P.3d 357 (2010). Consequently, Plaintiffs’ admitted actual knowledge of the facts 

underlying the professional negligence claims puts to rest any issue about when inquiry notice 
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occurred and proves, as a matter of law, that the professional negligence lawsuit is barred 

pursuant to NRS 41A.097(2).  

 In sum, the Siragusa case is of no help to Plaintiffs. They admittedly knew the factual 

conduct underlying their claim and simply sued the wrong person, Dr. Saxena. But the 

dispositive problem for Plaintiffs is that they sued Dr. Saxena in an untimely manner. That is the 

unavoidable legal reality. He was sued on April 14, 2017 when he should have been sued before 

March 11, 2017. The fact that Plaintiffs later learned that the conduct was actually attributable to 

NP Socaoco instead of Dr. Saxena fails to alter the statute of limitations analysis whatsoever 

given the plain language of NRS 41A.071, previously cited case law, and Plaintiffs’ admissions.  

b. Mountain of Admissions and Nevada Case Law Demonstrate No Issue of 
Fact. 

 
Plaintiffs make passing reference that the statute of limitations issue may be a jury 

question. No analysis is provided. The reason: Nevada case law makes abundantly clear that 

statute of limitations questions can and should be decided as a matter of law when unequivocal 

evidence exists, as explained below.  

First, the Nevada Supreme Court’s recent interpretation of its decision in Massey 

regarding the date of inquiry notice supports the IPC Defendants’ argument. The Court pointed 

out that: 

“While difficult to define in concrete terms, a person is put on "inquiry notice" 
when he or she should have known of facts that ‘would lead an ordinarily prudent 
person to investigate the matter further.’ Black's Law Dictionary 1165 (9th ed. 
2009). We reiterated in Massey that these facts need not pertain to precise legal 
theories the plaintiff may ultimately pursue, but merely to the  plaintiff's general 
belief that someone's negligence may have caused his or her injury. 99 Nev. at 
728, 669 P.2d at 252. Thus, Winn "discovered" Sedona's injury at a point when he 
had facts before him that would have led an ordinarily prudent person to 
investigate further into whether Sedona's injury may have been caused by 
someone's negligence.”  (emphasis added). 
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The citation is important because it conveys that the focus is on a plaintiff’s knowledge 

of facts which would cause further investigation regarding whether “someone’s” negligence 

caused the injury. Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 Nev. 246, 252-53, 277 P.3d 458, 462 

(2012). Here, Laura Latrenta repeatedly admits (as cited at length, above) that she possessed 

facts in March of 2016 which led her to believe negligence caused her mother’s death. These 

facts included direct statements made to Latrenta by Dr. Katz in mid-March of 2016 regarding 

the alleged need for immediate transfer and the need for a Narcan IV drip. 

Second, the Winn case is factually distinct from the present matter. In Winn, the “doctors 

were unable to provide an explanation [to father] for how this tragic result arose.” Id. at 249. It 

was not until the (incomplete) medical record was received by the family that inquiry notice 

commenced. The reason that inquiry notice commenced was obviously not due to the fact the 

(admittedly incomplete) records were received, but, rather because the records contained the 

operative fact (a notable volume of air in the heart) which should have caused further 

investigation. Id. at 249. The critical issue is when a plaintiff had access to the facts indicating 

injury due to some act of negligence. Here, Plaintiff Laura Latrenta admittedly had access to 

those facts—from multiple sources—before Curtis passed away on March 11, 2016.  

The Winn case is also helpful for a proper understanding as to determining when the 

commencement date of the statute is a factual issue to be decided by the jury. Indeed, while the 

Winn Court readily acknowledged that a statute of limitations analysis is often a fact-intensive 

inquiry for a jury. The conduct of the Winn Court, however, demonstrates that statute of 

limitations determinations can be decided as a matter of law if unequivocal evidence exists 

which conveys the date that the operative facts were accessible by a plaintiff. Indeed, in Winn 

the Court noted that “the evidence does irrefutably demonstrate that Winn discovered Sedona's 

injury no later than February 14, 2007” because that is the date when an operative record (which 
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contained the fact—the presence of air—underlying the potential negligence) became accessible. 

Id. at 463.  It is irrefutable in this case that Plaintiff Laura Latrenta had access to facts which 

would put any reasonable person on notice to investigate further into whether Curtis’s injury may 

have been caused by someone's negligence. The Court can determine that the evidence is 

irrefutable because it comes by way of Latrenta’s own admissions. Latrena cannot create issues 

of fact with her own inconsistent statements. Block v. City of Los Angeles, 253 F.3d 410 (9th 

Cir. 2001); Bank of Las Vegas v. Hoopes, 84 Nev. 585, 586, 445 P.2d 937, 938 (1968).   

Third, the case of Pope v. Gray also supports the countermotion. Pope v. Gray, 104 Nev. 

358, 760 P.2d 763 (1988). In Pope, a case with factual similarities, a seventy-four year old 

woman received two surgical procedures over the course of two days. Id. at 360. She died shortly 

after the second procedure and “[o]ne of the three doctors told [plaintiff] that her mother had 

died and they were not sure why.” Id. The Court concluded that it was reasonable for the plaintiff 

to argue that the statute of limitations did not run until receipt of the death certificate because 

“[e]ven though the doctors told Pope, on the day of her mother's death, that they did not know 

why she died, given Magill's age, surgical treatment, and serious manifestation of poor health 

two days before her death, death alone would not necessarily suggest, to a reasonably prudent 

person, that the decedent succumbed to the effects of medical malpractice.” Id. at 358. Equally 

important, the Court commented that those facts distinguished a California case where the 

“plaintiff was aware, before death, of the possible negligence that caused decedent's death.” Id. at 

364 n.8. citing Larcher v. Wanless, 18 Cal. 3d 646, 650, 135 Cal. Rptr. 75, 77, 557 P.2d 507, 509 

(1976).  Thus, by implication, Pope stands for the proposition that a wrongful death cause of 

action commences on the date of death if the plaintiff is aware of possible negligence that caused 

the death prior to (or simultaneous with) the actual death. The present case presents a radically 

different factual situation wherein Plaintiff Laura Latrenta admitted her repeated exposure to 
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facts suggesting possible negligence in connection with the administration of morphine to Curtis 

and her follow-up care. Plaintiff Laura Latrenta admitted she believed, in March of 2017, 

that negligence caused Curtis’s death. Plaintiffs no longer even contest this point. As such, 

inquiry noticed commenced, at the latest, on the date of Curtis’s death, March 11, 2016. 

IV. ELDER ABUSE CLAIMS BARRED. 

Plaintiffs unreasonably assert that they have an elder abuse claim against the IPC entities 

despite this Court’s clear April 12, 2018 order precluding such claims. Such a contention is 

legally incoherent for a few reasons. First, Plaintiffs readily admit that both Dr. Saxena and NP 

Socaoco, as providers of health, are not subject to the elder abuse statute. There is absolutely no 

claim or allegation anywhere in the Amended Complaint that the IPC entities somehow acted in 

a manner apart from the conduct of employees Dr. Saxena and NP Socaoco. In fact, the 

Amended Complaint states the IPC entities are “vicariously liable.” See Amended Complaint at 

¶8. Thus, since the underlying conduct of Dr. Saxena/NP Socaoco cannot legally constitute elder 

abuse, it strains logic to claim that the same conduct can constitute elder abuse from the 

perspective of the vicariously liable employer entity(ies).  

The more fundamental—and unavoidable—legal reality is that the IPC entities are in fact 

providers of health care pursuant to NRS 41A.017 and as admitted by Plaintiffs’ own Amended 

Complaint. NRS 41A.017 defines providers of health care as follows (emphasis added): 

NRS 41A.017  “Provider of health care” defined.  “Provider of health care” means a 
physician licensed pursuant to chapter 630 or 633 of NRS, physician assistant, dentist, licensed 
nurse, dispensing optician, optometrist, registered physical therapist, podiatric physician, licensed 
psychologist, chiropractor, doctor of Oriental medicine, medical laboratory director or technician, 
licensed dietitian or a licensed hospital, clinic, surgery center, physicians’ professional 
corporation or group practice that employs any such person and its employees. 
 
Moreover, Plaintiffs’ Fourth Cause of Action is also levelled against the IPC 

entities. The Fourth Cause of Action is explicitly grounded in “medical malpractice.” It 
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appears that Plaintiffs’ argument regarding elder abuse is simply an attempt to avoid the 

statute of limitations analysis which bars their lawsuit against the IPC Defendants.  

V. CONCLUSION. 

The Motion demonstrates that the statute of limitations bars the professional negligence 

claims against NP Socaoco and the IPC entities. Plaintiff Laura Latrenta repeatedly admitted she 

was on inquiry notice. In fact, she admitted that she actually and subjectively believed 

negligence occurred in March of 2017. Inexplicably, Plaintiffs sued Life Care within one year 

but failed to sue Dr. Saxena. The fact Plaintiffs later found out the conduct they attributed to Dr. 

Saxena was actually the conduct of NP Socaoco is irrelevant in a professional negligence 

lawsuit. Because the suit against Dr. Saxena was untimely, the suit against NP Socaoco is also 

untimely and must be barred pursuant to NRS 41A.097(2).  

 Dated this 26th day of July 2018.  

     JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
 

     /s/ Vincent J. Vitatoe 

           
     JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ. 
     VINCENT J. VITATOE, ESQ. 
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on the 26th day of July, I served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing DEFENDANTS’ REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS, OR, IN 

THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT by electronic means Pursuant to 

EDCR 8.05(a), and was submitted electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial 

District Court, made in accordance with the E-Service List, to the following individuals: 

Michael D. Davidson, Esq. 
KOLESAR & LEATHAM 
400 South Rampart Blvd., Suite 400 
Las Vegas, NV  89145 
AND 
Melanie L. Bossie, Esq. 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
15333 North Pima Road, Suite 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
   Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 
 S. Brent Vogel, Esq. 
 Amanda Brookhyser, Esq. 
 LEWIS BRISBOIS, ET. AL. 
 6385 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite 600 
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
     Attorneys for Defendants, 

South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC 
d/b/a Life Care Center of South Las Vegas 
f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley, 
South Las Vegas Investors, LP, Life Care 
Centers of America, Inc. and Carl Wagner 

 
 
 _______/s/ Vincent J. Vitatoe_____________                                                                         

   An Employee of John H. Cotton & Associates 
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EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
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NEOJ 
JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar Number 5268 
JHCotton@jhcottonlaw.com 
VINCENT J. VITATOE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar Number 12888 
VVitatoe@jhcottonlaw.com 
JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 
Telephone: (702) 832-5909 
Facsimile:  (702) 832-5910 
     Attorneys for Defendants, Samir Saxena, M.D. 
Annabelle Socaoco, N.P. and IPC Healthcare, Inc. 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
*   *   * 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of 
the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 v. 
 
SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL 
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER 
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS fka LIFE CARE 
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH 
LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF 
AMERICA INC., BINA HRIBIK 
PROTELLO, Administrator; CARL 
WAGNER, Administrator; AND does 1-50 
inclusive,  
                      Defendants. 

CASE  NO.:   A-17-750520-C 
DEPT. NO.:   XVII 
 
Consolidated with:   
CASE  NO.:   A-17-754013-C 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 
GRANTING IN PART AND 

DENYING IN PART IPC 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 

DISMISS, OR, IN THE 
ALTERATIVE, FOR SUMMARY 

JUDGMENT 

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of 
the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 v. 
 
SAMIR S. SAXENA, M.D.,; ANNABELLE 
SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. 
a/k/a THE HOSPITALISTS COMPANY INC.; 
INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA 
INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF 
NEVADA INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF 
NEVADA, INC.; and DOES 51-100, 
                      Defendants. 

 

Case Number: A-17-750520-C

Electronically Filed
11/7/2018 7:58 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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     TO: ALL PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD: 

     YOU AND EACH OF YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an Order was entered in 

the above entitled matter on the 6th day of November 2018, a copy of which is attached hereto.  

 Dated this 7th day of November 2018.  

     JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200 

     Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 
 

      /s/ Vincent J. Vitatoe    
     JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ. 
     VINCENT J. VITATOE, ESQ. 
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on the 7th day of November 2018, I served a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING 

IN PART IPC DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS, OR, IN THE ALTERATIVE, 

FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT by electronic means Pursuant to EDCR 8.05(a), and was 

submitted electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial District Court, made in 

accordance with the E-Service List, to the following individuals: 

Michael D. Davidson, Esq. 
KOLESAR & LEATHAM 
400 South Rampart Blvd., Suite 400 
Las Vegas, NV  89145 
AND 
Melanie L. Bossie, Esq. 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
15333 North Pima Road, Suite 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
   Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 
 S. Brent Vogel, Esq. 
 Amanda Brookhyser, Esq. 
 LEWIS BRISBOIS, ET. AL. 
 6385 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite 600 
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
     Attorneys for Defendants, 

South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC 
d/b/a Life Care Center of South Las Vegas 
f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley, 
South Las Vegas Investors, LP, Life Care 
Centers of America, Inc. and Carl Wagner 

 
 
 _/s/ Terri Bryson____________________                                                                         

   An Employee of John H. Cotton & Associates 
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OPPM 
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 000878 
KOLESAR & LEATHAM 
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145 
Telephone:  (702) 362-7800 
Facsimile:  (702) 362-9472 
E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com 
MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
Telephone: (602) 553-4552 
Facsimile: (602) 553-4557 
E-Mail: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com 
BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700 
Tampa, FL, 33609 
Telephone:  (813) 873-0026 
Facsimile: (813) 286-8820 
Email: bennie@wilkesmchugh.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

* * * 
Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, 
LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH 
LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE CENTER OF 
PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH LAS VEGAS 
INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE 
CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.; BINA 
HRIBIK PORTELLO, Administrator; CARL 
WAGNER, Administrator; and DOES 1-50, 
inclusive, 

Defendants. 

Case No. A-17-750520-C 

Dept No. XVII 

Consolidated With: 
Case No. A-17-754013-C 

PLAINTIFFS’ OPPOSITION TO IPC 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR 

RECONSIDERATION 

Date:  January 2, 2019 
Time:  In Chambers 

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 

Plaintiffs, 

 

Case Number: A-17-750520-C

Electronically Filed
12/6/2018 2:03 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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2 
vs. 

SAMIR SAXENA, M.D.; ANNABELLE 
SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. 
aka THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.; 
INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA, 
INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF 
NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF 
NEVADA, INC.; and DOES 51–100, 

Defendant. 

 

PLAINTIFFS’ OPPOSITION TO IPC DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR 
RECONSIDERATION 

Plaintiffs Estate of Mary Curtis, deceased; Laura Latrenta, as Personal Representative of 

the Estate of Mary Curtis; and Laura Latrenta, individually (“Plaintiffs”), by and through their 

attorneys at the law firms of Kolesar & Leatham and Wilkes & McHugh, P.A., hereby respond to 

IPC Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration. 

DATED this 6th day of December, 2018. 

KOLESAR & LEATHAM 

By /s/ Michael D. Davidson, Esq.  
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 000878 
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145 
MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700 
Tampa, FL, 33609 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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2 
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

No substantially different evidence has been introduced since the Court’s decision that date 

of accrual is a jury question. Nor was that decision clearly erroneous. Reconsidering the decision 

would therefore be unjustified. 

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Dr. Saxena opposed Laura’s motion to amend her Complaint to include Nurse Socaoco and 

the IPC entities and also countermoved for summary judgment, arguing that the statute of 

limitations defeated Laura’s claims both against him and against the prospective IPC Defendants. 

See Def. Saxena’s Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. Amend Compl. & Countermot. Summ. J. 2 (“The statute of 

limitations and fatal legal flaws preclude all of Plaintiffs’ claims as asserted against the parties 

Plaintiffs seek to add.”). The Court denied without prejudice the countermotion as to the statute of 

limitations issue. See Order ¶ 10c (Apr. 11, 2018). 

Two months after the Court’s order, the IPC Defendants sought summary judgment on 

statute of limitations grounds. See Defs.’ Mot. Dismiss or in Alt. for Summ. J. 4 (“The statute of 

limitations bars Plaintiffs’ lawsuit against IPC Defendants.”). The Court granted in part and denied 

in part IPC’s motion, holding that “[t]he statute of limitations accrual date is a question of law only 

if the facts are uncontroverted” and finding that “a question of fact remains as to the date of inquiry 

as to the names of the tortfeasors in this matter.” Court Minutes 2 (Aug. 13, 2018). The 

corresponding order was filed three months later.  See Order (Nov. 6, 2018). 

The IPC Defendants now seek reconsideration of the statute of limitations issue. See IPC 

Defs.’ Mot. Recons. 

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. IPC Has Not Satisfied the Standard for Reconsideration. 

“A district court may reconsider a previously decided issue if substantially different 

evidence is subsequently introduced or the decision is clearly erroneous.” Masonry & Tile 

Contractors Ass’n of S. Nev. v. Jolley, Urga & Wirth, Ltd., 113 Nev. 737, 741 (1997). So “[o]nly 

in very rare instances in which new issues of fact or law are raised supporting a ruling contrary to 
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2 
the ruling already reached should a motion for rehearing be granted.” Moore v. City of Las Vegas, 

92 Nev. 402, 405 (1976). The Moore court accordingly held that the district court had abused its 

discretion in entertaining a second motion for rehearing that “raised no new issues of law and made 

reference to no new or additional facts.” Id.1 

Here, IPC Defendants do not offer substantially different evidence. See Defs.’ Mot. 

Recons. 4 (“IPC Defendants restate and reincorporate the factual and procedural background set 

forth in the underlying (a) Motion to Dismiss, or, in the alternative, for Summary Judgment and 

(b) Reply in support thereof.”). Nor do they offer new issues of law to show that the Court’s 

decision was clearly erroneous. See id. passim (regurgitating the arguments of their motion to 

dismiss and supporting reply).2 No cause therefore exists under Masonry & Tile Contractors for 

the Court to reconsider this previously decided issue. Indeed, as IPC raises no new issues of law 

and refers to no new or additional facts, entertaining their motion for reconsideration would be an 

abuse of discretion under Moore. IPC’s motion is therefore to be rejected. 

B. IPC’s Failure Is Understandable and Was Inevitable. 

Although relitigating this issue would be wrong (and tedious), a brief reminder of the 

considerations underlying the Court’s previous ruling seems not out of place here. In short, an 

injury’s accrual date is a question of fact for the jury except in an exceptional case, and this is not 

an exceptional case. 

The statute of limitations for professional negligence actions explicitly incorporates the 

discovery rule: “an action for injury or death against a provider of health care may not be 

commenced more than 3 years after the date of injury or 1 year after the plaintiff discovers or 

through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury, whichever occurs first.” 

                                                 
1 See also Achrem v. Expressway Plaza Ltd. P’ship, 112 Nev. 737, 742 (1996) (“Points or contentions not raised in 
the original hearing cannot be maintained or considered on rehearing.”). 

2 For example, they argue that the question of accrual is for some reason treated differently in professional negligence 
cases than in other tort cases—just as they did in their reply. Compare IPC Defs.’ Mot. Recons. 5 (counseling the 
Court that “it is critical for this Court to focus on the binding Nevada Supreme Court precedent which specifically 
addresses professional negligence (as opposed to other torts)”), with Defs.’ Reply 6 (“[A]s this Court is well aware, 
professional negligence torts are treated much differently tha[n] other negligence-based torts.”). In fact, the discovery 
rule’s applicability is even clearer in professional negligence cases as the rule is specifically provided for in the 
statutory language. Compare NRS 11.190(4)(e), with NRS 41A.097(2). 
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NRS 41A.097(2). “Injury” here means not “the allegedly negligent act or omission” but rather 

“legal injury,” i.e., “all essential elements of the malpractice cause of action.” Massey v. Litton, 99 

Nev. 723, 726 (1983). Discovery of this injury “must be of both the fact of damage suffered and 

the realization that the cause was the health care provider’s negligence.”  Id. at 727. 

“[T]he question of when a claimant discovered or should have discovered the facts 

constituting a cause of action is one of fact.” Siragusa v. Brown, 114 Nev. 1384, 1400 (1998). So 

“[o]nly where uncontroverted evidence proves that the plaintiff discovered or should have 

discovered the facts giving rise to the claim should such a determination be made as a matter of 

law.” Id. at 1401. It follows that whether a plaintiff exercised due diligence in discovering her 

cause of action is a jury question. See Bemis v. Estate of Bemis, 114 Nev. 1021, 1026 (1998) 

(“Whether [plaintiffs] exercised due diligence in discovering their cause of action is a question of 

fact which on remand should be determined by the trier of fact.”). 

IPC asserts that whether a claim is for professional negligence makes a difference.  See 

Defs.’ Mot. Recons. Section III.F. But in the medical malpractice case Winn v. Sunrise Hospital 

& Medical Center the supreme court taught that “the accrual date for subsection 2’s one-year 

discovery period ordinarily presents a question of fact to be decided by the jury,” such that “[o]nly 

when evidence irrefutably demonstrates this accrual date may a district court make such a 

determination as a matter of law.” 128 Nev. 246, 251 (2012). That is the same rule as in other tort 

actions. 

No reason therefore exists to reject reliance on Siragusa v. Brown, in which our supreme 

court, in reversing the district court’s dismissal as time-barred of plaintiff’s claims against a 

partnership’s counsel who allegedly masterminded a scheme to insulate the partnership from 

plaintiff, reasoned that plaintiff’s awareness upon filing her complaint that the partnership’s 

members had conducted a sham transfer “did not, as a matter of law, constitute discovery by 

[plaintiff] of facts constituting the fraud allegedly perpetrated by counsel.” 114 Nev. 1384, 1391 

(1998). True, her “mere ignorance of [counsel’s] identity will not delay accrual of even a 

discovery-based statute of limitations if the fact finder determines that [she] failed to exercise 
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2 
reasonable diligence in discovering [counsel’s] role in the alleged tortious activities.” Id. at 1394. 

But “such a determination must be made by the trier of fact.” Id. at 1402. 

Here, the jury is entitled to conclude that Laura not only did not know but could not have 

known that Nurse Socaoco and the IPC entities even existed, much less that they were involved, 

before Nurse Sansome’s 6 December 2017 deposition. See Pls.’ Opp’n to Defs.’ Mot. 

Dismiss/Mot. Summ. J. Part II (providing the factual background leading to Laura’s discovering 

these Defendants’ existence and involvement). Recall that at that deposition Nurse Sansome 

revealed to all the parties Nurse Socaoco’s existence by testifying (for example) that after she 

attempted to call the physician Nurse Socaoco called her back and (having been informed about 

Mary) instructed that Mary be given Narcan and specified its dosage, and that Nurse Socaoco 

herself arrived in person to the nursing station while Nurse Sansome was writing out the order. 

See id. Consider also that Life Care’s incident report identifying Nurse Socaoco as the 

physician/NP notified was not produced until January 2018. See id. Nor did any Defendant—

including Dr. Saxena—ever in their disclosures identify Nurse Socaoco. See id. 

Dismissing these Defendants now on statute of limitations grounds would therefore not 

only usurp the jury’s role but also ignore our supreme court’s teaching that “the policies served by 

statutes of limitations do not outweigh the equities reflected in the proposition that plaintiffs should 

not be foreclosed from judicial remedies before they know that they have been injured and can 

discover the cause of their injuries.” Petersen v. Bruen, 106 Nev. 271, 274 (1990). 

In sum, because IPC has not shown and cannot show substantially different evidence or 

that the Court’s decision is clearly erroneous, its motion for reconsideration should be denied. But 

if the Court desires to indulge IPC’s repetitious motion, then Laura requests the right to meet the 

motion with a full opposition thereto. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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IV. CONCLUSION 

Laura requests that the Court deny IPC’s motion for reconsideration. 

DATED this 6th day of December, 2018. 

KOLESAR & LEATHAM 

By /s/ Michael D. Davidson, Esq.  
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 000878 
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145 
MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700 
Tampa, FL, 33609 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I am an employee of Kolesar & Leatham, and that on the 6th day of 

December, 2018, I caused to be served a true and correct copy of PLAINTIFFS’ OPPOSITION 

TO IPC DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION in the following manner: 

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE)  Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-referenced 

document was electronically filed on the date hereof and served through the Notice of Electronic 

Filing automatically generated by that Court’s facilities to those parties listed on the Court’s 

Master Service List. 

/s/ Kristina R. Cole 
An Employee of KOLESAR & LEATHAM 
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NEOJ 
JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar Number 5268 
JHCotton@jhcottonlaw.com 
VINCENT J. VITATOE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar Number 12888 
VVitatoe@jhcottonlaw.com 
JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 
Telephone: (702) 832-5909 
Facsimile:  (702) 832-5910 
     Attorneys for IPC Defendants 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
*   *   * 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of 
the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 v. 
 
SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL 
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER 
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS fka LIFE CARE 
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH 
LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF 
AMERICA INC., BINA HRIBIK 
PROTELLO, Administrator; CARL 
WAGNER, Administrator; AND does 1-50 
inclusive,  
                      Defendants. 

CASE  NO.:   A-17-750520-C 
DEPT. NO.:   XVII 
 
Consolidated with:   
CASE  NO.:   A-17-754013-C 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 
GRANTING IPC DEFENDANTS 

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION  

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of 
the Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 v. 
 
SAMIR S. SAXENA, M.D.,; ANNABELLE 
SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. 
a/k/a THE HOSPITALISTS COMPANY INC.; 
INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA 
INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF 
NEVADA INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF 
NEVADA, INC.; and DOES 51-100, 
                      Defendants. 
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     TO: ALL PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD: 

     YOU AND EACH OF YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an Order was entered in 

the above entitled matter on the 25th day of April 2019, a copy of which is attached hereto.  

 Dated this 25th day of November 2018.  

     JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200 

     Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 
 

      /s/ Vincent J. Vitatoe    
     JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ. 
     VINCENT J. VITATOE, ESQ. 
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on the 25th day of April 2019, I served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER GRANTING IPC DEFENDANTS’ MOTION 

FOR RECONSIDERATION was submitted electronically for filing and/or service with the 

Eighth Judicial District Court, made in accordance with the E-Service List, to the following 

individuals: 

Michael D. Davidson, Esq. 
KOLESAR & LEATHAM 
400 South Rampart Blvd., Suite 400 
Las Vegas, NV  89145 
AND 
Melanie L. Bossie, Esq. 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
15333 North Pima Road, Suite 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
   Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 
 S. Brent Vogel, Esq. 
 Amanda Brookhyser, Esq. 
 LEWIS BRISBOIS, ET. AL. 
 6385 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite 600 
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
     Attorneys for Defendants, 

South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC 
d/b/a Life Care Center of South Las Vegas 
f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley, 
South Las Vegas Investors, LP, Life Care 
Centers of America, Inc. and Carl Wagner 

 
 
 _/s/ Terri Bryson____________________                                                                         

   An Employee of John H. Cotton & Associates 
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MRCN 
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 000878 
KOLESAR & LEATHAM 
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145 
Telephone:  (702) 362-7800 
Facsimile:  (702) 362-9472 
E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com 

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
BOSSIE, REILLY & OH, P.C. 
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
Telephone: (602) 553-4552 
Facsimile: (602) 553-4557 
E-Mail: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com 

BENNIE LAZZARA JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
1 N. Dale Mabry Hwy., Ste. 700 
Tampa, Florida 33609 
Telephone: (813) 873-0026 
Facsimile: (813) 286-8820 
Email: bennie@wilkesmchugh.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

* * * 

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, 
LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH 
LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE CENTER OF 
PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH LAS VEGAS 
INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE 
CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.; BINA 
HRIBIK PORTELLO, Administrator; CARL 
WAGNER, Administrator; and DOES 1-50, 
inclusive, 

Defendants. 

Case No. A-17-750520-C 
 
Dept No. XVIII 
 
Consolidated With: 
Case No. A-17-754013-C 
 

PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR 
RECONSIDERATION 

 
 
 
 

HEARING REQUESTED 

Case Number: A-17-750520-C

Electronically Filed
4/29/2019 1:27 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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2 
Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

SAMIR SAXENA, M.D.; ANNABELLE 
SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. 
aka THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.; 
INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA, 
INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF 
NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF 
NEVADA, INC.; and DOES 51–100, 

Defendant. 

 

 
Plaintiffs Estate of Mary Curtis, deceased; Laura Latrenta, as Personal Representative of 

the Estate of Mary Curtis; and Laura Latrenta, individually (“Plaintiffs”), by and through their 

attorneys at the law firms of Kolesar & Leatham, Bossie, Reilly & Oh, and Wilkes & McHugh, 

P.A., hereby move the Court to reconsider its order granting Nurse Socaoco and the IPC 

Defendants’ motion for reconsideration. 

DATED this 29th day of April, 2019. 

KOLESAR & LEATHAM 

By /s/ Michael D. Davidson, Esq.  
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 000878 
400 S. Rampart Blvd, Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
BOSSIE, REILLY & OH, P.C. 
15333 N. Pima Road, Suite 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 

BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ.- Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700 
Tampa, Florida 33609 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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2 
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

The Court should reconsider its order granting the motion for reconsideration of Nurse 

Socaoco (and the IPC Defendants) because (1) the Court failed to acknowledge controlling caselaw 

interpreting NRS 41A.097; (2) the Court erroneously employed an analysis applicable not to 

discovery date but to injury date; (3) the twin Siragusa/Spitler decisions require that a jury decide 

whether Laura acted with due diligence in discovering Nurse Socaoco’s identity; and (4) Laura’s 

original complaint included Doe Defendants. 

II. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

The following timeline provides the necessary dates for consideration of this motion: 

 7 March 2016: Life Care Center of South Las Vegas administers morphine to Mary 
Curtis. Ex. 1, Incident Report. 

 11 March 2016: Mary dies. Ex. 2, Death Cert. 

 31 March 2016: Mary’s toxicology report is completed; it notes a positive finding 
of morphine. Ex. 3, Toxicology Report. 

 7 April 2016: Mary’s autopsy report is signed; in it, the medical examiner notes, 
inter alia: 

o “The decedent became excessively sedated, and a physician was called to 
examine the decedent; and that afternoon the physician administered 
Narcan and Clonidine, with follow-up physician order for close observation 
and monitoring every 15 minutes for one hour, and every 4 hours 
thereafter.” 

o “The decedent reportedly remained somnolent and was transferred to an 
acute care hospital the following day.” 

o “Toxicological examination of blood obtained on admission to the acute 
care hospital, following transfer from the skilled nursing facility, showed 
morphine 20 ng/ml.” 

o “It is my opinion that . . . Mary Curtis, died as a result of morphine 
intoxication with the other significant conditions of atherosclerotic and 
hypertensive cardiovascular disease, and dementia.” Ex. 4, Autopsy Report. 

 14 April 2016: The ME leaves a message for Laura asking her to call him back so 
that he can discuss with her his findings; she calls him back either the same or the 
next day, and he informs her of his findings regarding Mary’s cause of death; he 
does not discuss with her any physician or nurse practitioner involvement 
contributing to Mary’s death. Ex. 14, Latrenta Decl. ¶¶ 2–3; Ex. 15, Email from 
Laura Latrenta to Melanie Bossie (Feb. 19, 2018) (reflecting the time of the ME’s 
call and the length of his message). 
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2 
 15 April 2016: The medical examiner signs Mary’s death certificate.  Ex. 2, Death 

Cert. 

 18 April 2016: Mary’s death certificate is issued; it identifies as her immediate 
cause of death morphine intoxication and labels her death an accident.  Id. 

 30 June 2016: Laura requests her mother’s complete record from Life Care.  Ex. 5, 
Letter from Mary Ellen Spiece to Life Care Center – Paradise Valley (June 30, 
2016). 

 17 August 2016: Life Care acknowledges Laura’s request and requests payment. 
Ex. 6, Acknowledgement of Req. for Copies & Req. for Payment. 

 2 February 2017: Laura files suit against Life Care Defendants. Compl. (A-17-
750520-C).  In her Complaint, she 

o names as Defendants Does 1 through 50; 

o alleges that “Defendants Does 26 through 50 are other individuals or entities 
that caused or contributed to injuries suffered by Ms. Curtis,” id. ¶ 6; 

o advises that she “will ask leave of Court to amend this Complaint to show 
such true names and capacities of Doe Defendants when the names of such 
defendants have been ascertained,” id. ¶ 7; and 

o alleges that each Doe defendant “is responsible in some manner and liable 
herein by reason of negligence and other actionable conduct and by such 
conduct proximately caused [Mary’s] injuries and damages.”  Id. 

 14 April 2017: Laura files suit against Dr. Saxena. Compl. (A-17-754013-C). 

 17 May 2017: Laura’s counsel sends a letter to Life Care’s counsel requesting that 
Life Care produce, inter alia, incident reports. Ex. 7, Letter from Melanie L. Bossie 
to S. Brent Vogel & Amanda Brookhyser 2 (May 17, 2017). 

 6 July 2017: Laura moves to consolidate her two suits. Pls.’ Mot. Consol. 

 9 August 2017: Laura serves on Life Care her first set of production requests, 
including a request for incident/accident reports. Ex. 8, Pls.’ 1st Set of Reqs. for 
Produc. to Life Care Defs. 3. 

 25 September 2017: Laura’s counsel via letter meets and confers with Life Care’s 
counsel regarding outstanding discovery, including incident reports. Ex. 9, Letter 
from Melanie L. Bossie to S. Brent Vogel & Amanda Brookhyser 2 (Sept. 25, 
2017). 

 2 October 2017: Laura serves on Dr. Saxena her first set of production requests, 
including a request for incident/accident reports. Ex. 10, Pls.’ 1st Set of Reqs. for 
Produc. to Def. Saxena 3. 

 10 October 2017: The district court orders Laura’s two actions consolidated. Order 
Granting Pl.’s Mot. Consol. (Oct. 10, 2017). 

 24 October 2017: Laura’s counsel discusses outstanding discovery with Life Care’s 
counsel; Life Care refuses to produce incident reports without a protective order. 
Ex. 11, Letter from Melanie L. Bossie to Amanda Brookhyser 1 (Oct. 25, 2017). 
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 8 November 2017: Laura files a motion to compel requesting that Life Care be 

ordered to produce, inter alia, incident reports. See Pls.’ Mot. Compel Further 
Responses 5. 

 4 December 2017: Laura’s counsel, via email, tells Life Care’s counsel that she 
needs Mary’s incident reports for depositions taking place that week and offers to 
treat them as confidential until the following week’s hearing on the motion to 
compel. Ex. 12, Letter from Melanie L. Bossie to Amanda Brookhyser (Dec. 4, 
2017). 

 6 December 2017: Laura’s counsel deposes Cecilia Sansome, a nurse formerly 
employed at Life Care Center of South Las Vegas. Ex. 18, Sansome Dep. She 
testifies as follows: 

o Annabelle Socaoco is a nurse practitioner, id. at 86:2–4, 104:8–11; 

o upon Ms. Sansome’s entering the facility a staff member approached her 
and told her that Mary had been given the wrong medication, id. at 45:18–
46:3; 

o Ms. Sansome, having asked whether the physician had been notified, was 
told that he had not been and was asked to make the call, id. at 46:7–9; 

o Ms. Sansome first assessed Mary, id. at 46:10–25; 

o having done so, she then called the physician through the answering service 
and was told that Nurse Socaoco would call her back, id. at 47:1–4; 

o Nurse Socaoco shortly thereafter called and, having been informed about 
Mary, instructed that she be given Narcan and specified the dosage thereof, 
id. at 47:4–9; 

o Nurse Socaoco arrived in person to the nursing station while Ms. Sansome 
was still writing the order, asking Ms. Sansome if she had given the Narcan, 
id. at 47:9–17, 104:12–15; 

o Ms. Sansome then took the medication out of the emergency pyxis and 
administered it to Mary, id. at 47:18–20; and 

o Ms. Sansome did not speak to Dr. Saxena about Mary. Id. at 86:18–20. 

 13 December 2017: The discovery commissioner orders Life Care to produce 
incident reports. See Disc. Comm’r’s Report & Recommendation ¶ 2 (Dec. 13, 
2017, 9:00 a.m.). 

 4 January 2018: Life Care serves its seventh supplemental disclosure, producing 
therewith a medication error incident report identifying Ms. Socaoco as the 
physician/NP notified. Ex. 13, Defs.’ 7th Suppl. to Initial Discl. 43; Ex. 1, Incident 
Report 2. Up to this time, no disclosure statement of any Defendant had identified 
Nurse Socaoco. 

 17 January 2018: Laura moves to amend her complaint to add as a defendant Nurse 
Socaoco (as well as the IPC entities). Pls.’ Mot. Amend Compl. 

 6 February 2018: Dr. Saxena opposes Laura’s motion to amend her Complaint and 
countermoves for summary judgment, arguing that the statute of limitations defeats 
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2 
Laura’s claims both against him and against the prospective IPC Defendants.  See 
Def. Saxena’s Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. Amend Compl. & Countermot. Summ. J. 2 (“The 
statute of limitations and fatal legal flaws preclude all of Plaintiffs’ claims as 
asserted against the parties Plaintiffs seek to add.”). 

 28 February 2018: Judge Villani entertains oral argument on Laura’s motion to 
amend.  Ex. 19, Hr’g Tr. (Feb. 28, 2018). At the hearing, 

o Laura’s counsel explains that the parties “were deposing Cecilia Sansome 
and she was one of the nurses that worked for Life Care—taking her through 
what happened; everyone presumed it was Dr. Saxena, the attending 
physician that saw Mary on that date. Cecilia said it was Annabelle.”  Id. at 
2:25–3:4. 

o Laura’s counsel explains that “neither Life Care nor Dr. Saxena even listed 
Annabelle [Socaoco] in their disclosure statements so she was kind of a 
surprise to everybody that she was involved.”  Id. at 3:14–16. 

o Judge Villani asks this question of defense counsel: “[I]f they’re on inquiry 
notice mid-March but they only find out about Dr. Saxena, let’s say June of 
the year in question, do they have the one year from the June or from the 
day of the inquiry?”  Id. at 16:21–24. 

o Judge Villani asks both sides whether there has “been any evidence 
regarding when someone became aware of Dr. Saxena either through a—or 
report, his name in the reports?”  Laura’s counsel responds: “June,”; and 
elaborates that “Life Care is very strict in giving out the records so they 
don’t give them to the family. I requested it and it took me 3 months to get 
them, so I got them in June of 2016 was when I even first got the records 
’cause obviously the client had no idea who Dr. Saxena was, so that’s when 
the records first became available to the client or her attorney. So, that 
would be the first record document . . . of him . . . .”  Id. at 25:4–22. 

 11 April 2018: The district court grants Laura’s motion to amend her complaint, 
“thereby permitting Plaintiffs to pursue their proposed claims . . . against Defendant 
Annabelle Socaoco, N.P., and Defendants IPC,” Order ¶ 10a (Apr. 11, 2018); and 
denies without prejudice Dr. Saxena’s countermotion as to the statute of limitations 
issue.  Id. ¶ 10c. 

 11 June 2018: Nurse Socaoco and the IPC Defendants seek summary judgment on 
statute of limitations grounds. See Defs.’ Mot. Dismiss or in Alt. for Summ. J. 4 
(“The statute of limitations bars Plaintiffs’ lawsuit against IPC Defendants.”). 

 1 August 2018: Judge Villani entertains oral argument on Defendants’ motion to 
dismiss/motion for summary judgment.  Ex. 20, Hr’g Tr. (Aug. 1, 2018).  At the 
hearing, 

o Laura’s counsel explains that “the whole relating back to when Dr. Saxena’s 
complaint was filed has already been ruled on by this Court and should be 
the law of the case.”  Id. at 7:1–3. 

o Laura’s counsel explains that “[e]ven in the coroner’s report, all listed that 
the physician had seen her and ordered the Narcan. It wasn’t until we were 
in the middle of the deposition on December 6, of 2017 . . . of Cecilia 
Sansome, who the name Annabelle Socaoco even became into existence—
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2 
and at the time I took her deposition I still did not even have the complete 
medical records.”  Id. at 7:7–12. 

o Laura’s counsel explains that “[o]n January 3rd of 2018, the incident report 
was produced finally giving me a complete record of the medical records, 
and lo and behold, that is when it’s first determined from the medical 
records that it was not Dr. Saxena that was notified of what happened to 
[Mary], that it was Annabelle Socaoco. Of course, within 14 days, I filed 
my motion to amend the complaint.”  Id. at 7:15–21. 

o Laura’s counsel explains that “legal injury in the Massey versus Linton 
Supreme Court of Nevada case is all essential elements of a malpractice 
cause of action. You got to have a tortfeasor in order to sue a tortfeasor.”  
Id. at 8:10–11. 

o Laura’s counsel explains that “Ms. Socaoco doesn’t even come in existence. 
Neither one of these Defendants didn’t even disclose her in their disclosure 
statement. We’re all sitting in the deposition room in December when her 
name is first mentioned and within 30 days, when I get the incident report 
to confirm that, I file my motion to amend. So, the statute of limitations . . . 
did not even begin to run as to Ms. Socaoco and IPC until all elements of a 
medical malpractice claim is known, and that includes who the tortfeasor 
is.”  Id. at 8:11–18. 

o Laura’s counsel explains: “I did my due diligence and asked for the records 
from the beginning; didn’t get the records till June. Asked for the incident 
report; didn’t get the incident report—actually it took two weeks before I 
filed my motion to amend to include her.”  Id. at 9:7–10. 

o Judge Villani asks: “Is it true that only during the deposition that the 
Plaintiff learned of nurse Socaoco? . . . I mean, how can they if they only 
learned on that day after the statute ran . . . and how can they be penalized 
for that?”  Id. at 14:1–6. 

o To this question defense counsel responds thus: “to your question, yes, they 
learn about that in a deposition, the underlying issue still, as a matter of law, 
is was that first complaint timely filed and was it not.”  Id. at 14:16–18. 

o Judge Villani decides “to take this matter under advisement.”  Id. at 14:19–
20. 

 6 November 2018: The district court, observing that “[t]he statute of limitations 
accrual date is a question of law only if the facts are uncontroverted,” holds that “a 
question of fact remains as to the date of inquiry as to the identity of the IPC 
Defendants” and so denies Nurse Socaoco’s motion “based upon the statute of 
limitations because the date of inquiry as to the identity of the IPC Defendants is a 
question of fact.” Order ¶¶ 8–10 (Nov. 6, 2018). 

 26 November 2018: Nurse Socaoco moves for reconsideration, seeking “rehearing 
on this Court’s Order on IPC Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, or, in the alternative, 
for Summary Judgment.”  IPC Defs.’ Mot. Recons. 4. 

 6 December 2018: Laura opposes Nurse Socaoco’s motion for reconsideration, 
observing that “relitigating this issue would be wrong (and tedious)” but offering 
“a brief reminder of the considerations underlying the Court’s previous ruling,” 
Pls.’ Opp’n 4, and, after summarizing that the motion should be denied “because 
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2 
IPC has not shown and cannot show substantially different evidence or that the 
Court’s decision is clearly erroneous,” nevertheless stating that “if the Court desires 
to indulge IPC’s repetitious motion, then Laura requests the right to meet the 
motion with a full opposition thereto.”  Id. at 6. 

 9 January 2019: Judge Holthus denies Nurse Socaoco’s motion for reconsideration, 
which she erroneously calls Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration.  Court Minutes 
(Jan. 9, 2019). 

 27 February 2019: Judge Holthus strikes the court minutes of 9 January 2019 on 
the theory that she “ruled upon a motion that was previously ruled upon by Judge 
Villani.”  Order to Strike (Feb. 27, 2019). 

 28 February 2019: The Court, having observed that “[i]t is only in ‘very rare 
instances’ that a Motion to Reconsider should be granted”; that “[t]he Nevada 
Supreme Court has repeatedly noted that the law does not favor multiple 
applications for the same relief”; that “[t]he previous court denied IPC’s Motion as 
to the remaining claims because . . . a question of fact remains as to the date of 
inquiry as to the identity of the IPC Defendants”; and that “[t]his Court is allowed 
to make a determination as to the accrual date for the purposes of a statute of 
limitations only if the facts are uncontroverted,” without oral argument grants 
Nurse Socaoco’s motion for reconsideration and directs defense counsel to “submit 
a proposed order consistent with the foregoing within ten (10) days after counsel is 
notified of the ruling and distribute a filed copy to all parties involved pursuant to 
EDCR 7.21.”  Order (Feb. 28, 2019). 

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. The Court should reconsider its decision because in failing to apply Massey it 
ignored controlling caselaw. 

Our supreme court taught in the medical malpractice case Massey v. Litton 

 that the term “injury” in NRS 41A.097 “encompasses not only the physical damage 
but also the negligence causing the damage,” 99 Nev. 723, 726 (1983); 

 that to interpret “injury” as “the allegedly negligent act or omission; the physical 
damage resulting from the act or omission” would “defeat[] the purpose of a 
discovery rule” and would in cases in which negligence was not obvious “fail[] 
adequately to account for all relevant factors,” id.; 

 “that ‘injury’ as used in NRS 41A.097(1) means legal injury,” id.; 

 that “to adopt a construction that encourages a person who experiences an injury, 
dysfunction or ailment, and has no knowledge of its cause, to file a lawsuit against 
a health care provider to prevent a statute of limitations from running is not 
consistent with the unarguably sound proposition that unfounded claims should be 
strongly discouraged,” id. at 727; 

 that a patient’s discovery of her legal injury “may be either actual or presumptive, 
but must be of both the fact of damage suffered and the realization that the cause 
was the health care provider’s negligence,” id.; 
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2 
 that “[t]his rule has been clarified to mean that the statute of limitations begins to 

run when the patient has before him facts which would put a reasonable person on 
inquiry notice of his possible cause of action,” id. at 727–28; 

 that “[t]he focus is on the patient’s knowledge of or access to facts rather than on 
her discovery of legal theories,” id. at 728; 

 “that a patient discovers his legal injury when he knows or, through the use of 
reasonable diligence, should have known of facts that would put a reasonable 
person on inquiry notice of his cause of action,” id.; and 

 “that ‘injury’ encompasses discovery of damage as well as negligent cause.”  Id. 

Because injury included discovery of negligent cause, the supreme court held that the district 

court’s grant of summary judgment to defendant on statute of limitations grounds was improper 

and so reversed and remanded.  Id.1 

Five years later, the supreme court in Pope v. Gray (a wrongful death case based on medical 

malpractice) reaffirmed the conclusions that it had reached in Massey. 104 Nev. 358 (1988). 

Observing that it had in Massey “concluded that an interpretation providing that the statutory 

period commenced to run only when a plaintiff discovers or should have discovered ‘legal injury’ 

would be the most equitable construction of NRS 41A.097,” the court extended Massey by holding 

that the “statutory period for wrongful death medical malpractice actions does not begin to run 

until the plaintiff discovers or reasonably should have discovered the legal injury, i.e., both the 

fact of death and the negligent cause thereof.”  Id. at 362. 

Two years later, the supreme court in Petersen v. Bruen defended its discovery rule 

jurisprudence. 106 Nev. 271 (1990).  It admitted that “[t]he general rule concerning statutes of 

limitation is that a cause of action accrues when the wrong occurs and a party sustains injuries for 

which relief could be sought,” but pointed to “[a]n exception to the general rule [that] has been 

                                              
1 See also Catz v. Rubenstein, 513 A.2d 98, 102 (Conn. 1986) (recognizing that Nevada is among those “jurisdictions 
[that] have also held that a plaintiff must have discovered or in the exercise of reasonable care should have discovered 
the essential elements of a possible cause of action before the statute of limitations commences to run”); Hershberger 
v. Akron City Hosp., 516 N.E.2d 204, 207 (Ohio 1987) (citing the Massey court as among those “several courts [that] 
have asserted a preference for the ‘legal injury’ concept which definition includes all essential elements of a claim for 
medical malpractice”).  The Massey rule was hardly a departure for the Nevada Supreme Court-it had held five years 
earlier in Sorenson v. Pavlikowski that a legal malpractice claim accrues only when the client both sustains damage 
and discovers or should discover his cause of action. 94 Nev. 440, 443–44 (1978). 
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2 
recognized by this court and many others in the form of the so-called ‘discovery rule,’” under 

which “the statutory period of limitations is tolled until the injured party discovers or reasonably 

should have discovered facts supporting a cause of action.”  Id. at 274. It justified its adoption of 

this rule by explaining that “the policies served by statutes of limitation do not outweigh the 

equities reflected in the proposition that plaintiffs should not be foreclosed from judicial remedies 

before they know that they have been injured and can discover the cause of their injuries.”  Id. 

The court then taught in the medical malpractice case Winn v. Sunrise Hospital & Medical 

Center 

 “that the accrual date for NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year discovery period ordinarily 
presents a question of fact to be decided by the jury,” 128 Nev. 246, 258 (2012); 
and 

 that “[o]nly when the evidence irrefutably demonstrates that a plaintiff was put on 
inquiry notice of a cause of action should the district court determine this discovery 
date as a matter of law.”  Id. 

The Winn court thus rejected the district court’s conclusion that plaintiff had discovered his 

daughter’s injury the day after her surgery when defendants were unable to explain her surgery’s 

catastrophic result.  Id. at 253. 

The court did, however, then rule that father had discovered daughter’s injury no later than 

the date on which he received his daughter’s partial medical record, by which time father had 

already hired a lawyer to pursue a medical malpractice action and had access to the surgeon’s 

postoperative report referencing air’s presence in daughter’s heart at inappropriate times during 

the surgery: “By this point at the latest, [father] and his attorney had access to facts that would 

have led an ordinarily prudent person to investigate further whether [daughter’s] injury may have 

been caused by someone’s negligence,” so “the evidence irrefutably demonstrates that [father] was 

put on inquiry notice of his potential cause of action no later than” that date.  Id. at 253-54.  The 

court in reaching this result relied on its earlier decision in Massey, see id. at 252, and used it to 

conclude that father discovered daughter’s injury “when he had facts before him that would have 

led an ordinarily prudent person to investigate further into whether [daughter’s] injury may have 

been caused by someone’s negligence.”  Id. at 253. Of course, there was in Wynn no mystery about 

who was the negligent cause of daughter’s injury-she had suffered a brain injury during a surgery 
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2 
in which she had air in her heart at inappropriate times, and so if anyone was negligent it was either 

the surgeon, the two perfusionists, or all three (and indeed father sued all three).  See id. at 249. 

Are Massey and Winn then at variance?  No: the supreme court in Libby v. Eighth Judicial 

Court synthesized the cases.  130 Nev. 359 (2014).  It called Massey and Winn “the analytical 

foundation established in previous cases in which [it] ha[d] interpreted NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-

year limitation period.” Id. at 364. Thus, “[b]eginning in Massey, [the court] explained that NRS 

41A.097(2)’s one-year limitation period is a statutory discovery rule that begins to run when a 

plaintiff ‘knows or, through the use of reasonable diligence, should have known of facts that would 

put a reasonable person on inquiry notice of his cause of action.’”  Id.  (citation omitted).  It “further 

explained that the term ‘injury,’ as used in the one-year limitation period, encompasses a plaintiff’s 

discovery of damages as well as discovery of the negligent cause of the damages.”  Id. And “[l]ater 

in Winn, [the court] recognized that by its terms, NRS 41A.097(2) requires a plaintiff to satisfy 

both the one-year discovery rule and the three-year limitations period.”  Id. So both “[i]n Massey 

and Winn, [the court] construed the one-year limitation period as requiring a plaintiff to be aware 

of the cause of his or her injury.”  Id. at 365.2 

Winn thus complements Massey; it neither contradicts nor constrains its holdings. So both 

Massey and Winn must be read as a harmonious whole by a court considering whether to take from 

the jury the determination of discovery date. But the Court’s order granting reconsideration relies 

on Winn alone.  See Order 3 (Feb. 28, 2019). Winn was of course unconcerned with the issue of 

what individuals were the negligent cause of plaintiff’s injury, as the identities of the physicians 

taking part in the surgery there were hardly shrouded in mystery. But that issue is at issue here, as 

Massey makes clear. 

Massey teaches that injury includes the negligence causing the damage; here, that 

negligence was Nurse Socaoco’s. Massey teaches that limiting injury to the allegedly negligent act 

                                              
2 The Second Circuit explained it thus: “The basic common law rule, the so-called ‘date of injury’ rule, is that the 
statute of limitations period commences when the cause of action accrues.  Several jurisdictions, including California 
and Nevada, however, recognize an exception to the general rule for certain causes of action such that the limitations 
period does not begin until the plaintiff discovers or reasonably should have discovered the facts supporting the cause 
of action.”  Cantor Fitzgerald Inc. v. Lutnick, 313 F.3d 704, 711 (2d Cir. 2002) (citations omitted). 
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2 
or omission would fail to account for all relevant factors; here, Nurse Socaoco’s participation is 

such a factor.  Massey teaches that a plaintiff’s discovery of her legal injury includes “the 

realization that the cause was the health care provider’s negligence,” 99 Nev. at 727; here, Laura 

did not realize and could not have realized that a cause of her mother’s injury was Nurse Socaoco’s 

negligence until Nurse Sansome’s December 2017 deposition. Massey teaches that the focus is on 

a plaintiff’s knowledge of or access to facts; here, Laura had no knowledge of Nurse Socaoco until 

Nurse Sansome’s deposition and had no access to the facts of Nurse Socaoco’s involvement until 

then (as she did not receive the incident report identifying Nurse Socaoco until January 2018). And 

Massey teaches that injury includes discovery of its negligent cause; here, Laura did not discover 

that Nurse Socaoco was a negligent cause of Mary’s injury until Nurse Sansome’s deposition. 

Massey’s teachings on when an injury accrues under the discovery rule, when considered alongside 

Winn’s holdings that the discovery period’s accrual date is a question of fact to be decided by the 

jury unless the evidence irrefutably demonstrates the date on which a plaintiff discovered or should 

have discovered her legal injury, compel the conclusion that the Court could neither determine the 

discovery date for the causes of action against Nurse Socaoco (and the IPC entities) nor, having 

done so, decide whether Laura’s suit against Nurse Socaoco is barred based on the time elapsed 

between that date and Nurse Socaoco’s having been made a defendant. But the Court did so 

determine and did so decide. It should therefore reconsider its decision. 

B. The Court should reconsider its decision because it imported the legal 
standard applicable to NRS 41A.097’s three-year limitation period to the 
statute’s one-year limitation period. 

Section 41A.097 provides that “an action for injury or death against a provider of health 

care may not be commenced more than 3 years after the date of injury or 1 year after the plaintiff 

discovers or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury, whichever 

occurs first.” NRS 41A.097(2). So “consistent with the statute’s language, which requires the 

plaintiff to commence her action within one year of discovering her injury or within three years of 

the injury date,” the supreme court’s “analysis in Massey and Winn recognize[s] that 

commencement of a malpractice action is bound by two time frames tied to two different events.” 

Libby, 130 Nev. at 364-65. In those cases, of course, the supreme court had “construed the one-
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year limitation period as requiring a plaintiff to be aware of the cause of his or her injury.”  Id. at 

365. So to construe the three-year limitation period likewise would render it irrelevant—something 

that the court would not do. Id. Instead, recognizing that “the purpose of the three-year limitation 

period is ‘to put an outside cap on the commencements of actions for medical malpractice, to be 

measured from the date of the injury, regardless of whether or when the plaintiff discovered its 

negligent cause,’” id. (citation omitted), it concluded that “the Nevada Legislature tied the running 

of the three-year limitation period to the plaintiff’s appreciable injury and not to the plaintiff’s 

awareness of that injury’s possible cause.”  Id. at 366. The court therefore held that “NRS 

41A.097(2)’s three-year limitation period begins to run once there is an appreciable manifestation 

of the plaintiff’s injury” and that “a plaintiff need not be aware of the cause of his or her injury in 

order for the three-year limitations period to begin to run.”  Id. 

Here, the court held that “Plaintiff was on inquiry notice no later than March 11, 2016 when 

Providers of Healthcare at Sunrise Hospital told plaintiff that negligent conduct had occurred.” 

Order 3 (Feb. 28, 2019).  Now 11 March 2016 could arguably be the date of injury-it is the date 

on which Mary died and according to the Court the date on which Laura was told that negligent 

conduct had occurred.3  But assuming arguendo that Laura should have taken some time during 

her mother’s death throes on 11 March to mentally note that her mother had suffered an appreciable 

injury, she undoubtedly knew only that appreciable injury, not its cause. But under Libby having 

an appreciable injury without knowledge of its possible cause commences NRS 41A.097(2)’s 

three-year statute of limitations, not its one-year statute of limitations. The error is now apparent: 

the Court held that circumstances arguably commencing the three-year statute of limitations 

inarguably commenced the one-year statute of limitations. It should therefore reconsider its 

decision. 

                                              
3 A cause of action for wrongful death cannot accrue before the date of death. Pope v. Gray, 104 Nev. at 363 n.6 
(“[T]he very earliest that the statute of limitations could begin to run for a wrongful death action would be at death, 
and not before.”). 
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C. The Court should reconsider its decision because it failed to apply Siragusa/ 

Spitler’s holding that a statute of limitations does not begin to run until a 
plaintiff discovers or should have discovered the tortfeasor’s identity. 

Whether Laura’s claims against Nurse Socaoco (and the IPC entities) are time-barred is a 

jury question under Siragusa v. Brown, 114 Nev. 1384 (1998) and Spitler v. Dean, 436 N.W.2d 

308 (Wis. 1989).  The Spitler court held that “[t]he statute should not commence to run until the 

plaintiff with due diligence knows to a reasonable probability of injury, its nature, its cause, and 

the identity of the allegedly responsible defendant.”  436 N.W.2d at 310. The Nevada Supreme 

Court in Siragusa adopted and applied that holding.  114 Nev. at 1393. 

In Siragusa, wife filed an adversary complaint in bankruptcy court against ex-husband after 

he defaulted on his debt owed her under their divorce property settlement and filed for bankruptcy 

before she could enforce her lien against his partnership interest, which interest he claimed to have 

been forced to terminate before filing for bankruptcy.  Id. at 1387-88. Her adversary complaint 

“referred to [partnership’s] counsel on several occasions,” alleging that she had told wife’s counsel 

that the partnership’s reorganization would not affect wife’s interest; raising the issue whether 

backdated documents had been used in the reorganization; and claiming that wife had discovered 

evidence of fraud in the addendum prepared by partnership’s counsel.  Id. at 1388. Several months 

later, one of the partners by affidavit described a scheme masterminded in part by partnership’s 

counsel in which the partners executed a “paper reorganization” (including using backdated 

documents) in order to insulate partnership from ex-husband’s liabilities to wife.  Id. at 1388–89. 

Wife later sued partnership’s counsel, but the district court granted counsel summary judgment, 

believing wife’s claims time-barred.  Id. at 1390. The Nevada Supreme Court reversed.  Id. at 

1402. 

Overruling its previous holding that a civil conspiracy action runs from the date of the 

injury, the supreme court, observing that “the policies served by statutes of limitation do not 

outweigh the equities reflected in the proposition that plaintiffs should not be foreclosed from 

judicial remedies before they know that they have been injured and can discover the cause of their 

injuries,” id. at 1392 (citation and emphasis omitted), held that “an action for civil conspiracy 

accrues when the plaintiff discovers or should have discovered all of the necessary facts 
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2 
constituting a conspiracy claim.”  Id. at 1393.  For this reason it accepted wife’s argument that 

“part of discovering facts constituting a cause of action is discovering the identity of a specific 

tortfeasor.”  Id. Accordingly, it recognized that wife’s awareness by the time that she filed her 

adversary complaint that partnership’s members had conducted a sham transfer of ex-husband’s 

interests “did not, as a matter of law, constitute discovery by [wife] of facts constituting the fraud 

allegedly perpetrated by [counsel].”  Id. at 1391.  Of course, wife’s “mere ignorance of [counsel’s] 

identity will not delay accrual of even a discovery-based statute of limitations if the fact finder 

determines that [wife] failed to exercise reasonable diligence in discovering [counsel’s] role in the 

alleged tortious activities.”  Id. at 1394. But that was a question for the trier of fact on remand.  Id. 

Then turning to wife’s state RICO claims, the court again “note[d] the general rule that the 

question of when a claimant discovered or should have discovered the facts constituting a cause 

of action is one of fact,” such that “[o]nly where uncontroverted evidence proves that the plaintiff 

discovered or should have discovered the facts giving rise to the claim should such a determination 

be made as a matter of law.”  Id. at 1400–01.  It then-again relying on Massey, as did the Winn 

court-concluded that the term “injury” in Nevada’s RICO statute “encompasses discovery of both 

an injury and the cause of that injury, in this case [defendant’]s racketeering activity,” and that 

“such factual determinations cannot be made as a matter of law.”  Id. at 1401. It therefore reversed 

the trial court’s dismissal of plaintiff’s tort and state RICO claims.  Id. at 1402. 

As in Siragusa, Laura (1) generally knew of the underlying conduct, but not of a particular 

individual’s role in the conduct (the lawyer’s role there, Nurse Socaoco’s here); and (2) discovered 

that individual’s conduct later (by a partner’s affidavit there, by Nurse Sansome’s testimony here). 

Siragusa’s reasoning, then, that because a plaintiff’s judicial remedies cannot be foreclosed before 

she can discover the cause of her injuries her action does not accrue until she has or should have 

discovered a claim’s necessary facts-including the identity of the specific tortfeasor-applies with 

equal force to Laura’s claims against Nurse Socaoco.  So does Siragusa’s recognition that 

awareness of the general underlying conduct does not as a matter of law constitute discovery of 
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2 
facts constituting the tort allegedly committed by another-here, Nurse Socaoco.4  Now whether 

Laura exercised reasonable diligence in discovering Nurse Socaoco’s role is another question. But 

it is a question that under Siragusa is for the jury. 

The Siragusa court relied on and adopted the interpretation of the discovery rule announced 

by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in Spitler v. Dean, see Siragusa, 114 Nev. at 1393-94, thus 

counseling consideration of Spitler as well.  In Spitler, plaintiff filed a tort claim “more than two 

years after he was injured, but less than two years after he discovered the identity of the alleged 

tortfeasor.”  436 N.W.2d at 308.  The Wisconsin Supreme Court therefore had to consider whether 

the “discovery rule should be extended to allow a tort action to accrue only after the identity of the 

defendant is known, or reasonably should have been known.”  Id. at 309. 

The court recognized that “the identity of the tortfeasor is a critical element of an 

enforceable claim,” such that “[t]he statute should not commence to run until the plaintiff with due 

diligence knows to a reasonable probability of injury, its nature, its cause, and the identity of the 

allegedly responsible defendant.”  Id. at 310 (citation omitted).  Indeed, “the public policy 

justifying the accrual of a cause of action upon the discovery of the injury and its cause applies 

equally to the discovery of the identity of the defendant.”  Id.  The court had “consistently 

recognized the injustice of commencing the statute of limitations before a claimant is aware of all 

the elements of an enforceable claim.”  Id. So the Spitler plaintiff’s “cause of action did not accrue 

until [he] knew the identity of the defendant, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence, should 

have discovered the identity of the defendant.”  Id. The issue of reasonable diligence being 

“ordinarily one of fact,” the supreme court thus remanded to the trial court “for a factual 

determination whether [plaintiff] exercised reasonable diligence in attempting to discover the 

identity of the defendant.”  Id. at 311. 

                                              
4 For this reason whether a cause of action against B arose from the same transaction or occurrence as the earlier-
asserted cause of action against A cannot be dispositive. Contra Order 3 (Feb. 28, 2019) (erroneously concluding 
that Laura as a matter of law was on inquiry notice because she “filed a Motion to Consolidate the case against South 
Las Vegas Medical and IPC Defendants premised on the fact that the two cases arose out of the same transaction or 
occurrence”). 
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2 
Under Spitler, Laura’s cause of action against Nurse Socaoco did not accrue until she knew 

Nurse Socaoco’s identity or should by reasonable diligence have discovered it.  Laura did not 

know Nurse Socaoco’s identity until Nurse Sansome’s December 2017 deposition, and whether 

she should have discovered Nurse Socaoco’s identity sooner is a fact question for the jury 

(although it is hard to see how she could have earlier discovered her identity, as Life Care did not 

relinquish the incident report identifying her until January 2018).  So Spitler is as clear as Siragusa: 

when Laura’s claims against Nurse Socaoco accrued is a question for the jury. 

Now whether the Siragusa/Spitler rule that a cause of action does not accrue until a plaintiff 

discovers or by reasonable diligence should have discovered a defendant’s identity is atypical is 

of course irrelevant-it is the law of Nevada and cannot be disregarded by Nevada district courts. 

But in any event the rule adopted by the Nevada and Wisconsin high courts does in fact accord 

with that of other courts that have considered this discovery rule wrinkle. For example, the 

Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court in Harrington v. Costello, recognizing that “[c]ourts in a 

number of other States . . . have concluded that for a cause of action to accrue, the identity of the 

defendant must be known or reasonably knowable,” held that “a cause of action accrues when the 

plaintiff discovers or with reasonable diligence should have discovered that (1) he has suffered 

harm; (2) his harm was caused by the conduct of another; and (3) the defendant is the person who 

caused that harm,” 7 N.E.3d 449, 455 (Mass. 2014); the Connecticut Supreme Court in Tarnowsky 

v. Socci held that the statute of limitations “does not begin to run until a plaintiff knows, or 

reasonably should have known, the identity of the tortfeasor,” 856 A.2d 408, 416 (Conn. 2004); 

the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in Slack v. Kanawha County Housing & 

Redevelopment Authority held that “the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the 

plaintiff knows, or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should know, that he has been injured 

and the identity of the person or persons responsible,” 423 S.E.2d 547, 553 (W. Va. 1992); and the 

Oregon Supreme Court in Adams v. Oregon State Police held that “[t]he period of limitations does 

not commence to run until plaintiff has a reasonable opportunity to discovery his injury and the 

identity of the party responsible for that injury.” 611 P.2d 1153, 1156 (Or. 1980). 
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2 
Indeed, even intermediate appellate courts have gotten into the act: the Utah Court of 

Appeals in Robinson v. Marrow held that “the discovery rule should be applied to situations 

wherein the plaintiff can show that he . . . did not know the identity of the tortfeasor after 

conducting a reasonable investigation,” 99 P.3d 341, 345 (Utah. Ct. App. 2004), while the 

Washington Court of Appeals in Orear v. International Paint Co. “conclude[d] that the statutes of 

limitations . . . did not begin to run until [plaintiff] knew or with reasonable diligence should have 

known that [defendant] may have been a responsible party.”  796 P.2d 759, 764 (Wash. Ct. App. 

1990).  So a Nevada district court that fails to apply Siragusa/Spitler disregards not only Nevada 

law but also a general rule of common law prevailing amongst the states. 

D. The Court should reconsider its decision because if Rule 10(d) could apply 
here it would apply here. 

“If the name of a defendant is unknown to the pleader, the defendant may be designated by 

any name. When the defendant’s true name is discovered, the pleader should promptly substitute 

the actual defendant for a fictitious party.”  Nev. R. Civ. P. 10(d).  The rule thus “permits a plaintiff 

to bring suit, before the limitations statute has run, against a defendant whose identity or 

description is known, but whose true name cannot be discovered through the exercise of reasonable 

diligence.”  Sullivan v. Terra Mktg. of Nev., 96 Nev. 232, 234 (1980). 

The California Court of Appeal in McOwen v. Grossman reversed a summary judgment 

granted to a defendant who had started life as a Doe. 63 Cal. Rptr. 3d 615 (Ct. App. 2007).  The 

McOwen plaintiff had lost a toe owing to gangrene on 2 April 2003 and had had his leg amputated 

in July 2003. Id. at 618.  He filed a medical malpractice action on 25 March 2004 against both 

named and Doe defendants.  Id.  One of the named defendants (Caremore Medical Group) 

supplemented its earlier discovery responses on 9 March 2005, in which supplement it identified 

Marc Grossman, M.D., who had treated plaintiff’s infected foot on 20 and 28 March 2003, as an 

individual who may have contributed to plaintiff’s injuries.  Id.  Plaintiff deposed Caremore’s 

expert on 21 March 2005, at which deposition he opined that Dr. Grossman should have ordered 

not the Doppler test that he did order but rather an angiogram.  Id. at 618-19. On this opinion 

Caremore’s supplemental response was apparently based.  Id.  at 619.  Plaintiff amended his 

RESP - 232



 

3124008 (9770-1) Page 19 of 22 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

  

K
O

L
E

S
A

R
 &

 L
E

A
T

H
A

M
 

40
0 

S
. R

am
p

ar
t 

B
ou

le
va

rd
, S

u
it

e 
40

0 
L

as
 V

eg
as

, N
ev

ad
a 

89
14

5 
T

el
: 

 (
70

2)
 3

62
-7

80
0 

/ F
ax

: 
 (

70
2)

 3
62

-9
47

2 
complaint on 8 August 2005, substituting Dr. Grossman for one of the Does.  Id.  (Thus, as plaintiff 

“point[ed] out . . . in his opening brief, ‘Grossman wouldn’t be in this lawsuit if it weren’t for 

Caremore’s contentions.’”  Id.)  The trial court, finding that plaintiff had been treated by Dr. 

Grossman in March 2003 and that plaintiff’s leg had been amputated in July 2003, held that 

amputation put plaintiff on notice of his claim, triggering the statute of limitations.  Id.  It therefore 

granted Grossman’s motion for summary judgment. Id. at 618. The California Court of Appeal 

reversed.  Id.5 

The appellate court saw nothing in the record suggesting that Caremore’s theory of liability 

for Dr. Grossman, a theory “which is quite specific in focusing on the test ordered by respondent 

in March 2003, was known to [plaintiff] prior to March 2005, when Caremore first indicated in its 

amended supplemental response that [Dr. Grossman] may have contributed to [plaintiff’s] 

injuries.”  63 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 621.  And while there was no evidence that Caremark’s expert’s 

theory had been known to anyone but him, there was plaintiff’s “statement that he had no suspicion 

of wrongdoing by [Dr. Grossman] prior to [Caremark’s expert’s] deposition.”  Id. at 622. This 

means that “it is a question of fact whether, at the time of the filing of the complaint, [plaintiff] 

knew facts that indicated that [Dr. Grossman] ordered the wrong test in March 2003, and that he 

should have ordered an angiogram.”  Id.  Dr. Grossman countered that plaintiff knew of him and 

knew that he had treated him in March 2003.  Id.  But “[t]his is not the issue.  The question is 

whether [plaintiff] knew facts when he filed the complaint that indicated that [Dr. Grossman] 

should have ordered an angiogram in March 2003, and not a Doppler test.”  Id.  And based on the 

evidence “it was only when [Caremark’s expert] surfaced with his ‘wrong test’ theory in March 

2005 that [plaintiff] learned of the role [Dr. Grossman] allegedly played in bringing about 

[plaintiff’s] injuries.”  Id.  So the appellate court, holding that “it is a question of fact whether, at 

the time [plaintiff] filed the complaint, he knew facts to cause a reasonable person to believe that 

[Dr. Grossman] was probably liable,” reversed the trial court’s judgment.  Id. at 624. 

                                              
5 California’s “medical malpractice statute of limitations is identical to Nevada’s statute.” Libby, 130 Nev. at 365. 
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Here, in rejecting Laura’s argument that the statute of limitations had been tolled until she 

could discover Nurse Socaoco’s identity, the Court explained that “Plaintiff could have moved this 

Court to amend their complaint to a ‘Doe’ pleading, which is commonly done in medical 

malpractice cases; however Plaintiff failed to do so.”  Order 4 (Feb. 28, 2019). It elaborated that 

“[i]t is important to note that not only did Plaintiff fail to move this Court to amend their complaint 

to include a ‘Doe’ pleading, but Plaintiff was actually in receipt of medical records that included 

names of some of the IPC Defendants, but failed to move this Court to amend their complaint.”  

Id. 

Possibly, however, Laura failed to so move the Court because she had already included 

Does 1 through 50 as Defendants in her original complaint and alleged therein that “Does 26 

through 50 are other individuals or entities that caused or contributed to injuries suffered by Ms. 

Curtis”; that she “will ask leave of Court to amend this Complaint to show such true names and 

capacities of Doe Defendants when the names of such defendants have been ascertained”; and that 

“each defendant designated herein as Doe is responsible in some manner and liable herein by 

reason of negligence and other actionable conduct and by such conduct proximately caused 

[Mary’s] injuries and damages.”  Compl. (A-17-750520-C) ¶¶ 6-7.  So if Rule 10(d) applies here 

then the Court could and should have applied it. 

McOwen bolsters this conclusion.  As the McOwen plaintiff named Doe defendants and 

did not discover his cause of action against Dr. Grossman until another defendant revealed it, so 

here Laura named Doe Defendants and did not discover her causes of action against Nurse Socaoco 

until Nurse Socaoco’s existence was revealed in a Life Care employee’s deposition (and then by 

Life Care’s supplemental disclosure).  Indeed, this is a much easier case than McOwen-the 

McOwen plaintiff knew very well about Dr. Grossman, as he had been treated by him, while Laura 

had no idea that Nurse Socaoco even existed.  But even in McOwen the question was not whether 

plaintiff knew Grossman but whether plaintiff knew when he filed his complaint facts indicating 

that Grossman should have ordered a different test, which question was one of fact precluding 

summary judgment.  So a fortiori here, where Laura was ignorant not only of Nurse Socaoco’s 

negligence but even of her existence, is whether Laura knew facts when she filed her complaint to 
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2 
cause a reasonable person to believe Nurse Socaoco probably liable a jury question.  The Court 

thus erred in supposing summary judgment available on statute of limitations grounds. 

In sum, the Court should reconsider its order granting Nurse Socaoco’s motion for 

reconsideration because (1) the Court failed to apply the Massey discovery rule; (2) it applied the 

date of injury test rather than the date of discovery test; (3) it failed to adhere to Siragusa’s teaching 

that an action does not accrue until a plaintiff discovers or should have discovered the tortfeasor’s 

identity; and (4) Laura included Does as Defendants, so if Rule 10(d) is applicable then the Court 

should have applied it. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

Laura requests that the Court (1) grant her motion for reconsideration; (2) reconsider its 

order granting Nurse Socaoco and the IPC entities’ motion for reconsideration; and (3) deny their 

motion for reconsideration seeking summary judgment. 

DATED this 29th day of April, 2019. 

KOLESAR & LEATHAM 

By /s/ Michael D. Davidson, Esq.  
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 000878 
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 

-and- 

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
BOSSIE, REILLY & OH, P.C. 
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 

BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ.- Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700 
Tampa, FL 33609 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I am an employee of Kolesar & Leatham, and that on the 29th day of 

April, 2019, I caused to be served a true and correct copy of foregoing PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION 

FOR RECONSIDERATION in the following manner: 

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE)  Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-referenced 

document was electronically filed on the date hereof and served through the Notice of Electronic 

Filing automatically generated by the Court’s facilities to those parties listed on the Court’s Master 

Service List. 

/s/ Kristina R. Cole 
An Employee of KOLESAR & LEATHAM 
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JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar Number 5268 
JHCotton@jhcottonlaw.com 
VINCENT J. VITATOE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar Number 12888 
VVitatoe@jhcottonlaw.com 
JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117 
Telephone: (702) 832-5909 
Facsimile:  (702) 832-5910 
Attorneys for IPC Defendants 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

* * * 
Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL 
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER 
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE 
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH 
LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED 
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF 
AMERICA, INC.; BINA HRIBIK PORTELLO, 
Administrator; CARL WAGNER, 
Administrator; and DOES 1–50, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

 CASE NO. A-17-750520-C 

DEPT NO. XVII 

Consolidated with: 
CASE NO. A-17-754013-C 

 

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

SAMIR SAXENA, M.D.; ANNABELLE 
SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. 
aka THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.; 
INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA, 
INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF 
NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF 

 IPC DEFENDANTS’ OPPOSITION 
TO PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR 

RECONSIDERATION 
 

Case Number: A-17-750520-C

Electronically Filed
5/14/2019 8:02 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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NEVADA, INC.; and DOES 51–100, 
 
                                    Defendants. 

 
 

 
Defendants, ANNABELLE SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. aka THE 

HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.; INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA, INC.; IPC 

HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF NEVADA, INC. 

(hereinafter “NP Socaoco” or, collectively, “IPC Defendants”) by and through their attorneys of 

record, John H. Cotton, Esq. and Vincent J. Vitatoe, Esq., of the law firm of the law firm JOHN 

H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD., hereby submits this Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for 

Reconsideration 

This Opposition is made and based upon the papers, pleadings, and records on file herein, 

the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities, and any oral argument this Court may 

allow at the time of the hearing on this matter.  
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I. INTRODUCTION. 

This Court granted IPC Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration after extensive briefing. 

Now, Plaintiffs seek to re-litigate the same arguments once again. They ask for reconsideration 

of this Court’s reconsideration. Denial of this attempt is proper both procedurally and 

substantively. First, all of the arguments Plaintiffs now present in their Motion for 

Reconsideration were presented before for consideration (and reconsideration) in opposition to 

IPC Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration or could have been presented. The Motion is thus 

procedurally defective per EDCR 2.24 and related case law because this Court is under no 

obligation to rethink what it already thought. 

Second, Plaintiffs’ position still fails substantively. The lawsuit against Dr. Saxena 

(which was later amended to include IPC Defendants) was itself untimely pursuant to NRS 

41A.071, binding Nevada case law, and Plaintiffs’ own admissions. Indeed, Plaintiffs admitted 

that the consolidated cases arose from the same transaction and occurrence involving a morphine 

medication error and purported failure to timely and properly react—negligent conduct Plaintiff 

testified to knowing before March 11, 2016. Inquiry notice thus indisputably commenced more 

than one (1) year before Plaintiffs filed suit against Dr. Saxena and the IPC Defendants. 

I. LEGAL ARUGMENT  

A. PROCEDURAL DEFECTS: Improper to Stack Reconsideration Upon 
Reconsideration Regarding Same Issues. 

 
It has long been held that rehearing is only appropriate when “substantially different 

evidence is subsequently introduced or the decision is clearly erroneous.” (emphasis added)  See 

Masonry & Tile Contractors Ass’n of S. Nev. v. Jolley, Urga & Wirth, Ltd., 113 Nev. 737, 741, 

941 P.2d 486, 489 (1997).  “[O]nly in very rare instances in which new issues of fact or law are 

raised supporting a ruling contrary to the ruling already reached should a motion for rehearing be 

granted.  (emphasis added)  See Moore v. City of Las Vegas, 92 Nev. 402, 405, 551 P.2d 244, 
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246 (1976).  Moreover, re-hearings are not granted as a matter of right, and are not allowed for 

the purpose of re-argument, unless there is reasonable probability that the Court may have 

arrived at an erroneous conclusion.  See Geller v. McCowan, 64 Nev. 106, 108, 178 P.2d 380, 

381 (1947).  Nor is reconsideration to be used to ask the Court to rethink what it has already 

thought. See United States v. Rezzonico, 32 F.Supp.2d 1112, 1116 (D. Ariz. 1998). 

Here, Plaintiffs ask this Court to re-analyze what it already thought, rethought, and 

conclusively determined. All of Plaintiffs’ arguments either were or could have been presented 

during the original IPC Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration briefing. It is procedurally 

improper for Plaintiffs to seek reconsideration of issues this Court already reconsidered and 

decided. As such, the present Motion is procedurally defective and warrants denial out-of-hand.  

B. SUBSTANTIVE DEFECTS: Statute of Limitations Barred Suit Against 
IPC Defendants. 
 

Even if the Court looks beyond the procedural barrier, Plaintiffs present nothing new. No 

new law, no new facts. As such, IPC Defendants reincorporate all of the arguments previously 

made regarding why the statute of limitations bars Plaintiffs claims against IPC Defendants. For 

convenience, IPC Defendants re-presents several of the main arguments below and addresses 

Plaintiffs’ other errors including Plaintiffs’ intentional focus on the wrong order which decided 

the IPC Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration.  

a. Inquiry Notice Loses Meaning Under Plaintiffs’ Theory. 
 

Plaintiffs’ proposed position destroys the concept of inquiry notice in professional 

negligence cases. Under Plaintiffs’ flawed approach, there would never be a time where any 

plaintiff in a professional negligence case would need to actually inquire about the existence of a 

potential lawsuit because, according to Plaintiffs, “inquiry notice” would not even begin until the 

plaintiff already had absolute clarity regarding the identity of the possible tortfeasors as well as 

sufficient facts for each and every element of their various legal causes of action. Certainly, a 

savvy plaintiff would argue that such “identification” does not happen until every last detail is 
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known about a certain potential tortfeasor.  Of course, such a position is directly at odds with the 

Nevada Supreme Court’s binding case law.  

A close reading of this precedent gave this Court a clear landmark for properly 

identifying when inquiry notice commenced as a matter of law in this case. The most relevant 

decision was handed down by the Winn Court which summarized the relevant statute of 

limitations jurisprudence and elaborated as follows: 

“While difficult to define in concrete terms, a person is put on "inquiry notice" 
when he or she should have known of facts that ‘would lead an ordinarily prudent 
person to investigate the matter further.’ Black's Law Dictionary 1165 (9th ed. 
2009). We reiterated in Massey that these facts need not pertain to precise 
legal theories the plaintiff may ultimately pursue, but merely to the 
 plaintiff's general belief that someone's negligence may have caused his or 
her injury. 99 Nev. at 728, 669 P.2d at 252. Thus, Winn "discovered" Sedona's 
injury at a point when he had facts before him that would have led an ordinarily 
prudent person to investigate further into whether Sedona's injury may have been 
caused by someone's negligence.”  (Emphasis added). Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & 
Med. Ctr., 128 Nev. 246, 252-53, 277 P.3d 458, 462 (2012).  
 

The citation is important because it makes three key distinctions: (1) the analysis focuses on a 

plaintiff’s knowledge, (2) only facts—not precise legal theories—are material to the statute of 

limitations issue, and (3) the requisite facts are merely those which would cause an ordinarily 

prudent person to investigate whether an injury was caused by “someone’s negligence.” 

Plaintiffs argue the exact opposite and claim that a third party’s knowledge matters (here, Life 

Care), that precise legal theories must be supported by facts for each element of the claim, and 

that knowledge that “someone” may have acted negligent is insufficient until that “someone” is 

specifically identified.   

This last distinction is particularly relevant to the instant matter. The use of “someone” 

aligns perfectly in line with the plain language of NRS 41A.071—the statute setting forth the 

threshold burdens to bring a professional negligence case. How could the Winn Court 

specifically state that the mere general belief that “someone’s” negligent conduct may have 

RESP - 241



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

6 
 

Jo
h

n 
H

. C
ot

to
n

 &
 A

ss
oc

ia
te

s 
79

00
 W

. S
ah

ar
a,

 S
ui

te
 2

00
 

L
as

 V
eg

as
, N

V
 8

91
17

 
 

caused injury does legally commence inquiry notice if that “someone” must be identified prior to 

inquiry notice beginning as Plaintiffs claim? Importantly, Plaintiffs failed to address NRS 

41A.071(3)’s recent amendment which conforms precisely to IPC Defendants’ position and 

Winn. The amended statute specifically states that only the conduct is needed to commence suit, 

a position directly at odds with Plaintiffs’ argument that name and conduct are required.  

Plaintiffs can cite all the non-professional negligence cases they want—including cases 

from 20+ years ago before NRS 41A was enacted and cases which concern intentional fraud-

based torts—but none change the specific statutes and case law in Nevada which render 

professional negligence cases distinct. 

 Indeed, NRS 41A.071 states the following (emphasis added): 

NRS 41A.071  Dismissal of action filed without affidavit of medical expert.  If an 
action for professional negligence is filed in the district court, the district court shall 
dismiss the action, without prejudice, if the action is filed without an affidavit that: 
      1.  Supports the allegations contained in the action; 
      2.  Is submitted by a medical expert who practices or has practiced in an area that is 
substantially similar to the type of practice engaged in at the time of the alleged 
professional negligence; 
      3.  Identifies by name, or describes by conduct, each provider of health care who 
is alleged to be negligent; and 
      4.  Sets forth factually a specific act or acts of alleged negligence separately as to 
each defendant in simple, concise and direct terms. 

 

Again, no accidents occurred in the drafting of NRS 41A.071 and the plain language 

interpretation must apply. Subsection 3 requires identity by name or a description of the conduct 

which is alleged to be negligent. If merely describing the negligent conduct is sufficient to 

commence actual litigation, it is more than sufficient to commence inquiry notice. In other 

words, professional negligence cases can be (and frequently are) commenced on the basis of the 

known allegedly negligent conduct even if the specific defendants’ name remains unknown. This 

makes perfect sense given that the statute of limitations is short and frequently dozens of 

providers of health care can be involved in the care and treatment of a person. When the 
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negligent conduct is known, plaintiffs in this State are obligated to inquire further, bring suit, 

and substitute the proper party as the case unfolds. See NRS 41A.097(2); NRCP 15(a) and (c). 

 Consequently, Plaintiffs primarily focus (again) on Siragusa, a case dealing with 

intentional torts, specifically civil conspiracy. The Siragusa Court recognized the fact that a civil 

conspiracy claim contains an element requiring the involvement of “two or more persons” and 

thus made its remarks concerning the identity of a tortfeasor within that context. The nature of 

the actual cause of action is thus highly relevant to a statute of limitations analysis. Plaintiffs 

expect this Court to render a simplistic judgment instead of recognizing that the Siragusa case 

came years before NRS 41A was enacted and more than a decade before NRS 41A.071 was 

amended to clearly and specifically state that only the negligent conduct and its causal effect 

needs to be known to bring suit. The 2015 amendments and a proper understanding of Winn 

render Siragusa inapposite. Interestingly, Plaintiffs attempts to side-step the clear import of Winn 

by claiming: 

 “Winn was of course unconcerned with the issue of what individuals were the negligent 
cause of plaintiff’s injury, as the identities of the physicians taking part in the surgery 
there were hardly shrouded in mystery.” See Plaintiffs’ Motion for Reconsideration at 
10:27-28. 

 
 “Of course, there was in Wynn no mystery about who was the negligent cause of 

daughter’s injury-she had suffered a brain injury during a surgery in which she had air in 
her heart at inappropriate times, and so if anyone was negligent it was either the surgeon, 
the two perfusionists, or all three (and indeed father sued all three).” Id. at 11:20-22. 

 

Yet, under Plaintiffs’ logic, the appellant and the Winn Court should have immediately 

concluded that inquiry notice never commenced because it was not clear which particular 

provider of health care’s act or omission caused the injury. But that did not occur because that is 

not the test for inquiry notice in Nevada particularly with regard to professional negligence 

cases. The only mystery is what more a potential plaintiff would inquire about if Plaintiffs’ 

argument about the commencement of inquiry notice were true.   
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 However, another problem exists for Plaintiffs’ argument. This was a situation where 

Plaintiffs mistakenly identified the wrong person, Dr. Saxena, as the tortfeasor. Thus, it was not 

as though Plaintiffs were unable to bring suit because they did not know the identity of the 

alleged tortfeasor, they simply got it wrong. The problem with that mistake, as explained below, 

is they failed to timely file suit against Dr. Saxena. In addition, Dr. Saxena and NP Socaoco have 

the same employer and appeared in the same medical records. If the suit against Dr. Saxena was 

untimely (and it was), would the suit still be timely as related to his employer because that 

employer’s identity was not specifically known until some point after Plaintiffs knew of Dr. 

Saxena thus buying Plaintiffs more time at least as related to the employer? Plaintiffs’ position 

leads to absurd results and shifts the statute of limitations around incalculably which destroys its 

underlying purpose: giving certitude for when claims are open and closed. 

b. Inquiry Notice Commenced on March 11, 2016 Per Plaintiffs’ 
Admissions.    

 
 The issue before the Court was more straight-forward than most statute of limitations 

analyses as there was no need to deduce what Plaintiff should have known because in this case 

IPC Defendants presented Plaintiff Laura Latrenta’s admissions about what she actually knew 

and when. As such, the discovery rule analysis becomes black and white.  

Indeed, the Winn Court provided helpful guidance in explaining that the commencement 

date of inquiry notice can be decided as a matter of law if uncontroverted evidence exists which 

conveys the date that the operative facts suggesting professional negligence were accessible by a 

plaintiff. In Winn the Court noted that “the evidence does irrefutably demonstrate that Winn 

discovered Sedona's injury no later than February 14, 2007” because that is the date when an 

operative record (which contained the fact—the presence of air—underlying the potential 

negligence) became accessible. Id. at 463. The identity of the actual tortfeasor was irrelevant 

because the conduct was known which placed or should have placed a reasonable person on 
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inquiry notice that someone’s negligence may have caused injury. In short, this Court properly 

recognized the uncontroverted nature of the material evidence in the present matter for purposes 

of the statute of limitations.  

As a consequence, this Court correctly decided that it is irrefutable in this case that 

Plaintiff Laura Latrenta had access to facts which would put any reasonable person on notice to 

investigate further into whether Curtis’s injury may have been caused by someone's negligence 

because Latrenta admitted the facts actually did put her on notice in mid-March 2016 that 

someone’s negligence may have caused Mary Curtis’s injuries. Latrena cannot create issues 

of fact with her own internally inconsistent statements. Block v. City of Los Angeles, 253 F.3d 

410 (9th Cir. 2001); Bank of Las Vegas v. Hoopes, 84 Nev. 585, 586, 445 P.2d 937, 938 (1968).   

Without belaboring all the positions previously presented to this Court, the following list 

accounts for indisputable, irrefutable evidence of Plaintiff Laura Latrenta’s actual knowledge 

that someone’s potentially negligent conduct may have caused injury to Curtis: 

 Motion to Consolidate Proves Knowledge of “Common” Facts. On July 7, 2016, 

Plaintiff filed a Motion to Consolidate and admitted (indeed, forcefully argued) 

that that the case against Dr. Saxena (and now IPC Defendants) arose from the 

same facts as the case against Life Care: 

o “Laura’s two actions implicate the same underlying facts: Mary’s 

morphine overdose, Defendants’ reaction (or lack thereof) thereto, and her 

resulting injuries and death. See supra Part II. They therefore involve 

common questions of fact.” (Emphasis added). See Motion to 

Consolidate at 3:25-27. 

o Plaintiffs reiterated they “brought similar claims against both Life Care 

and Dr Saxena, i.e., that their negligence concerning her mother’s 
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morphine overdose caused her injuries and death.” Id. at 4-6.  

o “Laura’s actions against both Life Care and Dr. Saxena involve common 

questions of law, e.g., causation of and liability for her mother’s injuries 

and death, and of fact, e.g., her mother’s morphine overdose and 

Defendants’ untimely response thereto.” (Emphasis added). Id. at 6:8-10.  

 Plaintiffs Admitted Inquiry Notice Commenced in March of 2016 As Related to 

Life Care. “Here, Laura [Latrenta] was aware of her mother’s injuries, [and] their 

causation by Life Care Defendants…” See Opposition to Motion to 

Dismiss/Summary Judgment at 8:17. This is buttressed by Latrenta’s deposition 

testimony, previously presented, where she answered “Yes” to the question of 

whether it was her subjective perception that Life Care acted negligently on 

March 7 and 8, 2016.  

 Plaintiff Admitted Her Knowledge As Of March 2016 Regarding The Precise 

Facts At Issue In Her Lawsuit Against IPC Defendants. Plaintiff admitted in her 

deposition that no later than March 11, 2016, providers of health care at Sunrise 

Hospital told her negligent conduct occurred regarding the exact two factual bases 

upon which Plaintiffs premise their entire lawsuit: (1) the alleged failure to 

transport Mary Curtis to a hospital and (2) to provide a Narcan IV drip. Latrenta 

specifically testified that these Sunrise Hospital providers stated “they [IPC 

Defendants] should have brought her here as soon as this happened, and we could 

have put her on a Narcan drip.” See IPC Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration 

at Exhibit A at 77-78. 

 Plaintiffs Admitted that NP Socaoco’s Name Is In The Medical Records. 

Plaintiffs claimed NP Socaoco’s name was not “revealed” in the medical record, 
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but, in a footnote, were forced to admit that NP Socaoco’s name is in, in fact, in 

the medical record. Yet, Plaintiffs misleadingly claimed it is only present in two 

locations. See Plaintiffs’ Opposition to IPC Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss/Summary Judgment at 9:26-28. This claim is demonstrably false. NP 

Socaoco’s printed name or signature appear no less than five (5) places in the 

record. Id. at Exhibit B.  

Given that the irrefutable, operative fact in Winn which trigged inquiry notice was a mere 

note in a medical record stating air was in the heart, the facts in this case presented this Court 

with much more irrefutable, uncontroverted evidence since Plaintiffs admit their actual 

knowledge and belief that negligent conduct caused injury.  As such, this Court rightly decided 

inquiry notice must be triggered as a matter of law when the Plaintiffs conceded in March 2016 

they (a) subjectively believed negligence occurred regarding the morphine error and follow up 

care, (b) had providers of health care directly advise them of the two alleged omissions at the 

heart of their case (immediate hospital transfer and lack of Narcan IV drip) in March of 2016, 

and (c) argued to this Court that the consolidated cases involve the “same” facts regarding the 

reaction and follow up care in response to the morphine error. Therefore, the Court properly 

applied the discovery rule set forth in NRS 41A.097(2) to the uncontroverted facts of this case. 

c. The Case Against Dr. Saxena Was Untimely Making Any NRCP 
15(c) Argument Moot.  

 
Plaintiffs still misunderstands another fatal flaw in their argument: the initial suit against Dr. 

Saxena was itself untimely. The lawsuit against Dr. Saxena was the first suit which actually 

contained an expert affidavit supporting the professional negligence criticisms as required by 

NRS 41A.071. Indeed, the Nevada Supreme Court clearly held that a professional negligence 

complaint which lacks an expert affidavit is “void ab initio…a void complaint did not legally 

exist, it could not be amended.” Washoe Med. Ctr. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 122 Nev. 
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1298, 1300, 148 P.3d 790, 791 (2006). The first complaint against the Life Care Defendants did 

not legally exist as related to providers of health care accused of failing to transport and provide 

sufficient amounts of Narcan. This is important because Plaintiffs did commence suit against the 

Life Care Defendants within one year after inquiry notice commenced, yet failed to sue Dr. 

Saxena until more than a month after the one year deadline expired. The fact the complaint 

against the Life Care Defendants lacked an expert affidavit means that the complaint directed at 

the Life Care Defendants was unable to be amended and therefore unable to be related back 

under a NRCP 15(c) analysis—the first complaint did not legally exist as related to Dr. Saxena 

or IPC Defendants and their purportedly negligent conduct. It is for this reason that Plaintiffs did 

not even attempt to amend their initial lawsuit to add parties and include their claims against Dr. 

Saxen. Instead, Plaintiffs filed a separate suit two months later. However, filing a separate suit 

failed to avoid the statute of limitations bar against Dr. Saxena, and, by extension, the IPC 

Defendants because the purportedly negligent conduct was admittedly known more than one year 

prior.  

A brief recitation of the timeline summarizes why the Court correctly determined the statute 

of limitations bars suit against providers of health care such as the IPC Defendants: 

1. On February 2, 2017, Plaintiffs’ filed a Complaint in case A-17-750520-C (“First 

Complaint”) against Life Care Defendants which concerned, inter alia, Life Care 

Defendants’ nurses medication error in providing Mary Curtis with another patient’s dose 

of morphine and then failing to take appropriate action thereafter including transfer to a 

hospital.  

2. On April 14, 2017, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint in case A-17-754013-C initially naming 

Samir S. Saxena, M.D. (“Second Complaint”).  

3. The Second Complaint set forth two factual bases for the alleged professional negligence 

related to a morphine overdose of Mary Curtis: (a) a failure to timely transport Mary 
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Curtis to a hospital and (b) failure to administer a Narcan IV drip or ongoing doses of 

Narcan. 

4. Plaintiffs’ Second Complaint was filed more than one (1) year after March 11, 2016. 

5. On May 1, 2018, Plaintiffs filed an Amended Second Complaint in case A-17-754013-C 

(involving the Second Complaint) naming the IPC Defendants.  

6. The Amended Second Complaint contained the identical factual premises as were first 

lodged against Dr. Saxena in the Second Complaint and as set forth in the expert affidavit 

attached thereto.  

7. Amendment of the Second Complaint was therefore to no avail as there could be no valid 

relation back pursuant to NRCP 15(c) against the IPC Defendants given the initial 

untimeliness of the Second Complaint.  

For the reasons set forth above, it is clear that Plaintiffs are unable to rely on NRCP 

10(d), the rule concerning substituting parties, because that rule also invokes NRCP 15(c). The 

Nevada Supreme Court explicitly explained that NRCP 10(d) and NRCP 15(c) are intertwined: 

“the relation back effect of NRCP 15(c) does apply to the addition or substitution of parties.” 

(Emphasis added) Costello v. Casler, 127 Nev. 436, 440 n.4, 254 P.3d 631, 634 (2011). 

Consequently, Plaintiffs are unable avoid the statute of limitations by relating back their 

amendment to add or otherwise substitute the IPC Defendants because the Second Complaint 

was itself untimely and barred.1  

C. Additional Legal Errors: Imputation and Operative Order.  

As a final matter, the Plaintiffs are unable to impute their alleged difficulties getting 

information from the Life Care Defendants onto the IPC Defendants. This is another clear 

holding of the Winn Court which concluded that “one defendant's concealment cannot serve as a 

                                                 
1 The California case of McOwen v. Grossman fails to alter this analysis for two reasons. First, 
the initial complaint in McOwen was timely filed and then subsequently amended. Here, the 
pertinent complaint (Second Complaint) was not timely filed. Second, that case specifically notes 
that the conduct of the added provider of health care at issue was not reasonably known until 
much later. However, the commencement of inquiry notice and the relation back of an 
amendment are two different issues.  
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basis for tolling subsection 2's limitation periods as to defendants who played no role in the 

concealment.” Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 Nev. 246, 252, 277 P.3d 458, 462 

(2012).  There was never a claim that Life Care Defendants even concealed information let alone 

that IPC Defendants were somehow involved in such conduct. 

Moreover, Plaintiffs repeatedly cite “Order 3” from February 28, 2019 instead of this 

Court’s April 19, 2019 signed Order that actually laid out all the reasons, evidence, and legal 

bases upon which this Court granted IPC Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration. In addition to 

failing to even cite the operative April 19, 2019 Order, Plaintiffs’ boldly claim in their Motion:    

 “But the Court’s order granting reconsideration relies on Winn alone. See Order 3 (Feb. 
28, 2019)” See Plaintiffs’ Motion for Reconsideration at 11:18-19 

 
 “the court held that ‘Plaintiff was on inquiry notice no later than March 11, 2016 when 

Providers of Healthcare at Sunrise Hospital told plaintiff that negligent conduct had 
occurred.’” Order 3 (Feb. 28, 2019)” Id. at 13:12-14.  

 
 “Contra Order 3 (Feb. 28, 2019) (erroneously concluding that Laura as a matter of law 

was on inquiry notice because she “filed a Motion to Consolidate the case against South 
Las Vegas Medical and IPC Defendants premised on the fact that the two cases arose out 
of the same transaction or occurrence”).” (emphasis in original) Id. at 16: 26-28. 

 
This diversion from the operative April 19, 2019 Order highlights the nature of the argument 

presented by Plaintiffs. It also presents yet another legal error for Plaintiffs given that the instant 

Motion was certainly not filed within the appropriate timeframe for reconsideration under EDCR 

2.24 if February 28, 2019 acts as an operative date. Ultimately, this Court signed the relevant 

April 19, 2019 Order which did, in fact, include the full bases for this Court’s correct decision to 

grant the IPC Defendants’ Motion for Reconsideration. That analysis should remain and this 

Court can simply deny the instant Motion without further explanation of its reasoning.  
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II. CONCLUSION. 

IPC Defendants respectfully request that this Court deny Plaintiffs’ Motion to 

Reconsider.  

 Dated this 14th day of May 2019.  

     JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
 

     /s/ Vincent J. Vitatoe 

           
     JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ. 
     VINCENT J. VITATOE, ESQ. 
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on the 14th day of May 2019, I filed and served a true and correct 

copy of the foregoing IPC DEFENDANTS’ OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION 

FOR RECONSIDERATION by electronic means  consistent with the applicable rules and in 

accordance with the E-Service List, to the following individuals: 

Michael D. Davidson, Esq. 
KOLESAR & LEATHAM 
400 South Rampart Blvd., Suite 400 
Las Vegas, NV  89145 
AND 
Melanie L. Bossie, Esq. 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
15333 North Pima Road, Suite 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
   Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 
 S. Brent Vogel, Esq. 
 Amanda Brookhyser, Esq. 
 LEWIS BRISBOIS, ET. AL. 
 6385 S. Rainbow Blvd., Suite 600 
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
     Attorneys for Defendants, 

South Las Vegas Medical Investors, LLC 
d/b/a Life Care Center of South Las Vegas 
f/k/a Life Care Center of Paradise Valley, 
South Las Vegas Investors, LP, Life Care 
Centers of America, Inc. and Carl Wagner 

 
 
 _______/s/ Vincent J. Vitatoe_____________                                                                        

   An Employee of John H. Cotton & Associates 
 

RESP - 252



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

 

Jo
h

n 
H

. C
ot

to
n

 &
 A

ss
oc

ia
te

s 
79

00
 W

. S
ah

ar
a,

 S
ui

te
 2

00
 

L
as

 V
eg

as
, N

V
 8

91
17

 
 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
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RIS 
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 000878 
KOLESAR & LEATHAM 
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89145 
Telephone:  (702) 362-7800 
Facsimile:  (702) 362-9472 
E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com 

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
BOSSIE, REILLY & OH, P.C. 
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
Telephone: (602) 553-4552 
Facsimile: (602) 553-4557 
E-Mail: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com 

BENNIE LAZZARA JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
1 N. Dale Mabry Hwy., Ste. 700 
Tampa, Florida 33609 
Telephone: (813) 873-0026 
Facsimile: (813) 286-8820 
Email: bennie@wilkesmchugh.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

* * * 

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS, 
LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH 
LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE CENTER OF 
PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH LAS VEGAS 
INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE 
CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.; BINA 
HRIBIK PORTELLO, Administrator; CARL 
WAGNER, Administrator; and DOES 1-50, 
inclusive, 

Defendants. 

Case No. A-17-750520-C 
 
Dept No. XVIII 
 
Consolidated With: 
Case No. A-17-754013-C 
 
PLAINTIFFS’ REPLY IN SUPPORT 

OF MOTION FOR 
RECONSIDERATION 

 
Date:  June 5, 2019 
Time:  9:00 a.m. 

Case Number: A-17-750520-C

Electronically Filed
5/31/2019 3:18 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA 
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the 
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA 
LATRENTA, individually, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

SAMIR SAXENA, M.D.; ANNABELLE 
SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. 
aka THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.; 
INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA, 
INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF 
NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF 
NEVADA, INC.; and DOES 51–100, 

Defendant. 

 

 
Plaintiffs Estate of Mary Curtis, deceased; Laura Latrenta, as Personal Representative of 

the Estate of Mary Curtis; and Laura Latrenta, individually (“Plaintiffs”), by and through their 

attorneys at the law firms of Kolesar & Leatham, Bossie, Reilly & Oh, and Wilkes & McHugh, 

P.A., hereby reply to IPC Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Reconsideration. 

DATED this 31st day of May, 2019. 

KOLESAR & LEATHAM 

By /s/ Michael D. Davidson, Esq.  
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 000878 
400 S. Rampart Blvd, Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
BOSSIE, REILLY & OH, P.C. 
15333 N. Pima Road, Suite 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 

BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ.- Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700 
Tampa, Florida 33609 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

The Nevada Supreme Court in Siragusa decided that part of the discovery rule is the rule 

that a statute of limitations does not begin to run until the plaintiff knows or with due diligence 

should know the identity of the tortfeasor.  If that rule applies here then whether Laura exercised 

due diligence in discovering Nurse Socaoco’s identity is a jury question. IPC argues that Siragusa 

does not apply to professional negligence claims given NRS 41A.071’s post-Siragusa 

promulgation and subsequent amendment.  But NRS 41A.071 concerns expert affidavits in 

professional negligence actions.  It effects a change neither to NRS 41A.097, which provides the 

statute of limitations in professional negligence actions and establishes the discovery rule’s 

applicability in such actions, nor to our supreme court’s discovery rule jurisprudence.  It follows 

that (1) the Siragusa rule applies here, meaning that (2) whether Laura’s claims against IPC are 

time-barred is a jury question, such that (3) the Court’s granting IPC’s motion for reconsideration 

was clearly erroneous, and accordingly (4) the Court should reconsider its order dismissing IPC. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. The threshold question: Should the Court reconsider this issue? 

“Nevada Supreme Court precedent . . . grants this Court wide discretion to reconsider 

orders which may be erroneous.”  IPC Defs.’ Reply in Supp. of Mot. Recons. 3.  See also IPC 

Defs.’ Mot. Recons. 6 (“A district court may consider a motion for reconsideration concerning a 

previously decided issue if the decision was clearly erroneous.”).  So the Court’s discretion to 

reconsider is unquestioned. 

But should it exercise that discretion?  Yes, because the Court was likely disadvantaged by 

the limited picture before it when it made its first decision.  This case had, of course, previously 

been under Judge Villani, and when the IPC Defendants requested reconsideration on the statute 

of limitations issue they did not argue anything that he had not heard before. Compare IPC Defs.’ 

Mot. Recons., with Defs.’ Mot. Dismiss or, in Alt., for Summ. J., and Defs.’ Reply in Supp. of 

Mot. Dismiss or, in Alt., for Summ. J.  In fact, he had already heard the same song twice before, 

as Dr. Saxena, who is represented by the same counsel by whom the IPC Defendants are 
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2 
represented, made similar arguments in opposing Laura’s motion to amend her complaint to add 

the IPC Defendants and in his countermotion for summary judgment. See Def. Saxena’s Opp’n to 

Pls.’ Mot. Amend Compl. & Countermot. Summ. J.; Def. Saxena’s Reply in Supp. of Countermot. 

Summ. J. For this reason Laura in her opposition to IPC’s motion strove for (and by lawyerly 

standards achieved) brevity, only briefly explaining to (as she supposed) Judge Villani that IPC’s 

motion for reconsideration offered nothing new and reminding him why he had rightly ruled 

previously that whether Laura’s claims against the IPC Defendants were time-barred was a jury 

question.1 

Obviously, this case, with which Judge Villani was intimately familiar, was at some point 

transferred to Judge Holthus, who without the benefit of oral argument ordered granting IPC’s 

motion (denominated one for reconsideration but in reality procuring Judge Holthus’s first 

consideration) and dismissing with prejudice. Given the content of Judge Holthus’s order—for 

example, it considers Winn but not Massey, see Order ¶ 20 (Apr. 19, 2019), although those cases 

must be considered together, see Libby v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 130 Nev. 359, 364 (2014)—it 

seems not unlikely that more extensive briefing would be beneficial.  So the Court both has 

discretion to consider Laura’s motion for reconsideration and should exercise that discretion. 

B. Does IPC’s major argument—its attack on Siragusa—succeed? 

In Siragusa v. Brown, 114 Nev. 1384 (1998), the Nevada Supreme Court adopted the 

holding of Spitler v. Dean that “[t]he statute should not commence to run until the plaintiff with 

due diligence knows to a reasonable probability of injury, its nature, its cause, and the identity of 

the allegedly responsible defendant.”  436 N.W.2d 308, 310 (Wis. 1989) (citation omitted). See 

114 Nev. at 1393–94 (reciting and applying that holding). If Siragusa applies here then there is 

little question that dismissal on statute of limitations grounds is inappropriate—Laura sued Nurse 

Socaoco within one year of finding out about her (she learned of her existence and role at a 

deposition in December 2017 and moved to amend her complaint to add her and the IPC entities 

                                              
1 At her opposition’s conclusion, however, Laura added this: “But if the Court desires to indulge IPC’s repetitious 
motion, then Laura requests the right to meet the motion with a full opposition thereto.”  Pls.’ Opp’n to IPC Defs.’ 
Mot. Recons. 6. 
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2 
the next month, see Pls.’ Mot. Recons. 5) and whether she exercised reasonable diligence in 

discovering her existence and role is a jury question.  See Siragusa, 114 Nev. at 1394 (holding that 

whether plaintiff exercised reasonable diligence in discovering defendant’s role was a question for 

the trier of fact). 

Although Laura does not wish to speak for the IPC Defendants, they do seem to her to 

recognize (without of course admitting) that if Siragusa applies then they lose.  See IPC Defs.’ 

Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. Recons.  7 (“Plaintiffs expect this Court to render a simplistic judgment instead 

of recognizing that the Siragusa case came years before NRS 41A . . . . The 2015 amendments 

and a proper understanding of Winn render Siragusa inapposite.”).  They therefore attempt to limit 

Siragusa’s rule to the particular tort at issue in that case.  See id. (“The Siragusa Court recognized 

the fact that a civil conspiracy claim contains an element requiring the involvement of ‘two or 

more persons’ and thus made its remarks concerning the identity of a tortfeasor within that context. 

The nature of the actual cause of action is thus highly relevant to a statute of limitations analysis.”). 

But the Siragusa court made no such distinction; instead, it accepted plaintiff’s broad “argument 

that part of discovering facts constituting a cause of action is discovering the identity of a specific 

tortfeasor,” 114 Nev. at 1393, and broadly “note[d] the general rule that the question of when a 

claimant discovered or should have discovered the facts constituting a cause of action is one of 

fact.”  Id.  at 1400. Nor did the Spitler case whose holding it adopted concern civil conspiracy.  In 

fact, the Spitler court simply extended the rule established in Hansen v. A.H. Robins, Inc., 335 

N.W.2d 578 (Wis. 1983), see Spitler, 436 N.W.2d at 308 (agreeing to extend the discovery rule 

adopted in Hansen), and Hansen was a medical negligence case.  See 335 N.W.2d at 579 

(observing that plaintiff had brought an action “to recover damages for personal injuries arising 

out of her use of the Dalkon Shield”).  So to limit Siragusa to civil conspiracy claims or even to 

intentional torts is to err. 

IPC also argues that NRS 41A.071 (and particularly its 2015 amendment) supports its 

position.  See IPC Defs.’ Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. Recons.  6 (“Importantly, Plaintiffs failed to address 

NRS 41A.071(3)’s recent amendment which conforms precisely to IPC Defendants’ position and 

Winn.”).  The original version of NRS 41A.071 required that a medical malpractice claim be filed 
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2 
with “an affidavit, supporting the allegations contained in the action, submitted by a medical expert 

who practices or has practiced in an area that is substantially similar to the type of practice engaged 

in at the time of the alleged malpractice.”  NRS 41A.071 (amended 2015).  The current version 

retains the requirements that the affidavit support the action’s allegations and that it be submitted 

by a qualified medical expert and adds that the affidavit must “identif[y] by name, or describe[] 

by conduct, each provider of health care who is alleged to be negligent,” NRS 41A.071(3), and 

must “set[] forth factually a specific act or acts of alleged negligence separately as to each 

defendant in simple, concise and direct terms.”  NRS 41A.071(4). 

Both the original and amended versions of NRS 41A.071 thus do nothing more than require 

a supporting affidavit and specify its required contents.  They therefore have no relevance to any 

statute of limitations or to the discovery rule, especially given that chapter 41A has its own statute 

of limitations—a statute of limitations that explicitly incorporates the discovery rule.  See NRS 

41A.097(2) (providing that “an action for injury or death against a provider of health care may not 

be commenced more than 3 years after the date of injury or 1 year after the plaintiff discovers or 

through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury, whichever occurs 

first”).  That the legislature by amending NRS 41A.071 to specify additional affidavit requirements 

intended to sub silentio abrogate both the statutory discovery rule of NRS 41A.097—a statute that 

is in pari materia with NRS 41A.071 and so must be read in harmony with it—and the Nevada 

Supreme Court’s discovery rule jurisprudence is inconceivable.2  No good reason therefore exists 

to reject Siragusa’s application to this case. 

But good reason does exist to reject IPC’s competing interpretation of inquiry notice.  IPC 

argues that there was “indisputable, irrefutable evidence of Plaintiff Laura Latrenta’s actual 

                                              
2 See, e.g., Kondas v. Washoe Cty. Bank, 254 P. 1080, 1083 (Nev. 1927) (“Of course when two sections or two acts 
are in pari materia they must be harmonized.”); Presson v. Presson, 147 P. 1081, 1082 (Nev. 1915) (“Being in pari 
materia, the two acts must be read and construed together, and so harmonized as to give effect to them both, unless 
the latter act expressly repeals the former, or is so repugnant to it that the former should be held repealed by 
implication. Repeals by implication are not favored.”).  Of course, even if NRS 41A.071 did have some bearing on 
interpreting the statute of limitations, it would not have the effect claimed for it by IPC: the amended statute requires 
that the affidavit set forth “a specific act or acts of alleged negligence separately as to each defendant,” NRS 
41A.071(4) (emphasis added), which would prove a formidable challenge to one ignorant of a particular defendant’s 
existence or involvement. 
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2 
knowledge that someone’s potentially negligent conduct may have caused injury to Curtis,” IPC 

Defs.’ Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. Recons. 9, such that “this Court rightly decided that inquiry notice  must 

be triggered as a matter of law.”  Id. at 11.  Under IPC’s theory that inquiry notice as to all possible 

tortfeasors necessarily commences upon inquiry notice that some tortfeasor may have caused 

injury it would follow that the statute of limitations can bar claims against a tortfeasor even if a 

plaintiff could not with reasonable diligence have discovered that tortfeasor’s existence or 

involvement before the statute has run.  But that conclusion’s unsoundness is apparent not only 

from its evident injustice but also from the Nevada Supreme Court’s teaching that “the policies 

served by statutes of limitation do not outweigh the equities reflected in the proposition that 

plaintiffs should not be foreclosed from judicial remedies before they know that they have been 

injured and can discover the cause of their injuries.”  Petersen v. Bruen, 106 Nev. 271, 274 (1990).3 

Moreover, our supreme court has established that inquiry notice is “inquiry notice of a 

cause of action,” Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 Nev. 246, 258 (2012) (emphasis added), 

and a cause of action necessarily requires a tortfeasor, see Spitler, 436 N.W.2d at 310 (observing 

that “the identity of the tortfeasor is a critical element of an enforceable claim”), so it cannot be 

the case that inquiry notice of a cause of action as to one tortfeasor in every case means inquiry 

notice of all causes of action as to all tortfeasors.  And so in asserting a theory of inquiry notice 

conflating inquiry notice of a cause of action with inquiry notice of all causes of action, which 

theory would if applied result in this suit’s being time-barred as a matter of law, IPC errs.  Instead, 

Siragusa controls and requires that the question whether the statute of limitations defeats Laura’s 

claims against the IPC Defendants be resolved by the jury.  See Winn, 128 Nev. at 258 (“Only 

when the evidence irrefutably demonstrates that a plaintiff was put on inquiry notice of a cause of 

action should the district court determine this discovery date as a matter of law.”). 

/ / / 

/ / / 

                                              
3 See also id. at 274 (describing the discovery rule as “[a]n exception to the general rule” concerning statutes of 
limitation under which “the statutory period of limitations is tolled until the injured party discovers or reasonably 
should have discovered facts supporting a cause of action”). 
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C. What of IPC’s minor arguments? 

So much for the IPC Defendants’ main defense against reconsideration.  They do, however, 

offer a few lesser arguments, which can be disposed of with less effort. 

First, they argue that “the initial suit against Dr. Saxena was itself untimely,” IPC Defs.’ 

Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. Recons. 11, such that “Plaintiffs are unable [to] avoid the statute of limitations 

by relating back their amendment to add or otherwise substitute the IPC Defendants because the 

Second Complaint was itself untimely and barred.”  Id. at 13.  Dr. Saxena did, in fact, seek to 

prevent Laura’s amending her complaint against him to include Nurse Socaoco and the IPC 

Defendants and to obtain summary judgment on statute of limitations grounds, see Def. Saxena’s 

Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. Amend Compl. & Countermot. Summ. J., but the Court granted the motion to 

amend and denied (without prejudice) Dr. Saxena’s motion for summary judgment as to the statute 

of limitations, see Order ¶ 10 (Apr. 11, 2018), and Dr. Saxena and Laura later settled.  See Def. 

Saxena’s Mot. Good Faith Settlement.  So whether Laura’s claims against Dr. Saxena were time-

barred is hardly a question that can be reopened now and in any event IPC lacks standing to argue 

that the claims against Dr. Saxena are time-barred.4  And even if IPC both had such standing and 

could show that the claims against Dr. Saxena could be defeated with a limitations defense still 

nothing would follow: a complaint whose claims are subject to a statute of limitations defense is 

still a valid complaint—a limitations defense is after all an affirmative defense and so may be 

waived, see Nev. R. Civ. P. 8(c)—and so it can still be amended and relation-back is still available 

if necessary, and that Laura’s IPC claims arise out of the same transaction or occurrence as those 

against Dr. Saxena that are ex hypothesi time-barred is under Siragusa hardly dispositive of the 

effect of the statute of limitations against the IPC claims.  The whole question of the Saxena 

complaint is therefore irrelevant. 

                                              
4 Standing is “the right to raise a legal argument or claim,” City of Arvada ex rel. Arvada Police Dep’t v. Denver 
Health & Hosp. Auth., 403 P.3d 609, 613 ¶ 18 (Colo. 2017), and “[g]enerally, a party has standing to assert only its 
own rights and cannot raise the claims of a third party not before the court.”  High Noon at Arlington Ranch 
Homeowners Ass’n v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 402 P.3d 639, 646 (Nev. 2017). See also HealthONE v. Rodriguez ex rel. 
Rodriguez, 50 P.3d 879, 891–92 (Colo. 2002) (explaining that standing “is concerned with a particular litigant’s right 
to raise legal arguments or claims”); cf. Allen v. State, 91 Nev. 78, 81 (1975) (“In order to have standing to object to 
a search, the aggrieved party must be the one against whom the search has been directed.”). 
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2 
Second, they argue that “Plaintiffs are unable to impute their alleged difficulties getting 

information from the Life Care Defendants onto the IPC Defendants.” Defs.’ Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. 

Recons. 13.  This is true.  Laura does not request imputation, nor does her motion for 

reconsideration depend on it.  This issue is therefore irrelevant. 

Finally, they say that Laura cited the Court’s February 2019 order and that the April 2019 

order is in fact the operative one.  See id. at 14.  This too is true. The grounds for the two orders 

do not conflict: the later order reaches the same conclusions as those in the earlier order that IPC 

cited in its opposition as having been cited by Laura (i.e., that the Court relied on Winn but not on 

Massey and that it decided as a matter of law that Laura was on inquiry notice by 11 March 2016).  

See Order ¶¶ 20, 24–25 (Apr. 19, 2019). This issue is therefore irrelevant. 

D. So where do we stand now? 

Both IPC’s major argument (for Siragusa’s inapplicability and for its interpretation of 

inquiry notice) and its minor arguments have now been defused. So what live arguments are still 

before the Court? 

First, Laura argued that the Court should reconsider its decision because in failing to apply 

Massey v. Litton’s teaching that “‘injury’ encompasses discovery of damage as well as negligent 

cause,” 99 Nev. 723, 728 (1983) it ignored controlling caselaw.  See Pls.’ Mot. Recons. Section 

III.A. IPC did not undermine Massey’s applicability: it never discussed Massey at all; the case’s 

sole mention in IPC’s opposition is in a block quotation from Winn that if anything demonstrates 

Massey’s continuing force.  See Defs.’ Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. Recons.  5 (quoting Winn, 128 Nev. at 

252–53).  Massey therefore still stands, and therefore still counsels reconsideration. 

Second, Laura argued that the Court should reconsider its decision because it imported the 

legal standard applicable to NRS 41A.097’s three-year limitation period to the statute’s one-year 

limitation period.  See Pls.’  Mot. Recons. Section III.B. She premised this argument on Libby v. 

Eighth Judicial District Court, in which our supreme court taught that “commencement of a 

malpractice action is bound by two time frames tied to two different events,” 130 Nev. 359, 365 

(2014), and that “NRS 41A.097(2)’s three-year limitation period begins to run once there is an 

appreciable manifestation of the plaintiff’s injury” such that “a plaintiff need not be aware of the 
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2 
cause of his or her injury in order for the three-year limitations period to begin to run.”  Id. at 366. 

IPC in response never adverts to the statutory language of NRS 41A.097(2); nor does it 

acknowledge the statute’s two timeframes and the differing rules for each; nor does it even 

mention, much less attempt to distinguish, Libby.  NRS 41A.097(2) and Libby therefore still stand, 

and therefore still counsel reconsideration.5 

Third, Laura argued that the Court should reconsider its decision because it failed to apply 

Siragusa/Spitler’s holding that a statute of limitations does not begin to run until a plaintiff 

discovers or should have discovered the tortfeasor’s identity.  See Pls.’ Mot. Recons.  Section III.C. 

Here, of course, IPC expended most of its efforts.  But those efforts to limit Siragusa’s elaboration 

of the discovery rule to only civil conspiracy or intentional tort claims failed: the Siragusa court 

made no such limitation, nor does legal reason demand such a limitation, as difficulties in 

identifying tortfeasors can arise in any tort claim.  Indeed, the Siragusa rule’s applicability in 

professional negligence cases is especially ineluctable as the discovery rule governs such cases not 

only by judicial decision but also by legislative mandate.  See NRS 41A.097(2); see also Libby, 

130 Nev. at 364 (describing NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year limitation period as “a statutory discovery 

rule”).  So Siragusa still stands, and therefore still counsels reconsideration. 

Finally, Laura argued that the Court should reconsider its decision because if Rule 10(d) 

could apply here it would apply here.  See Pls.’ Mot. Recons.  Section III.D.  IPC argued that 

“Plaintiffs are unable to rely on NRCP 10(d), the rule concerning substituting parties, because that 

rule also invokes NRCP 15(c),” such that “Plaintiffs are unable [to] avoid the statute of limitations 

by relating back their amendment to add or otherwise substitute the IPC Defendants because the 

Second Complaint was itself untimely and barred.”  Defs.’ Opp’n to Pls.’ Mot. Recons. 13.  But 

Laura has already established that whether her claims against Dr. Saxena were subject to a 

limitations defense affects the validity neither of her complaint against him nor of relation back to 

                                              
5 See generally IPC Defs.’ Reply in Supp. of Mot. Recons. 3 (“Ignoring arguments are concessions to the merits of 
such arguments.”). 
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2 
that complaint were the relation-back doctrine’s application necessary here.  So Rule 10(d) still 

stands, and therefore still counsels reconsideration. 

In sum, many reasons counsel reconsideration of the order granting IPC’s motion and 

dismissing IPC, while none counsel against it.  The Court has an opportunity to fix its mistake 

now.  It should take it. 

III. CONCLUSION 

Laura requests that the Court grant her motion for reconsideration, reconsider its order, and 

reject dismissal of the IPC Defendants. 

DATED this 31st day of May, 2019. 

KOLESAR & LEATHAM 

By /s/ Michael D. Davidson, Esq.  
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 000878 
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 

-and- 

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice 
BOSSIE, REILLY & OH, P.C. 
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 

BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ.- Pro Hac Vice 
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A. 
One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700 
Tampa, FL 33609 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I am an employee of Kolesar & Leatham, and that on the 31st day of 

May, 2019, I caused to be served a true and correct copy of foregoing PLAINTIFFS’ REPLY IN 

SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION in the following manner: 

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE)  Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-referenced 

document was electronically filed on the date hereof and served through the Notice of Electronic 

Filing automatically generated by the Court’s facilities to those parties listed on the Court’s Master 

Service List. 

/s/ Kristina R. Cole 
An Employee of KOLESAR & LEATHAM 
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Telephone: (702) 362-7800
Facsimile: (702) 362-9472
E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260
Telephone: (602) 553-4552
Facsimile: (602) 553-4557
E-Mail: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com

BENNIE LAZZARA, JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.
One North Dale Mabry Highway, Suite 700
Tampa, FL, 33609
Telephone: (813) 873-0026
Facsimile: (813) 286-8820
Email: bennie@wilkesmchugh.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

* * *

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA
LATRENTA, individually,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL
INVESTORS, LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER
OF SOUTH LAS VEGAS f/k/a LIFE CARE
CENTER OF PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH
LAS VEGAS INVESTORS LIMITED
PARTNERSHIP; LIFE CARE CENTERS OF
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Administrator; CARL WAGNER,
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NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER

Please take notice that an Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Reconsider was entered

with the above court on the 26th day of June, 2019, a copy of which is attached hereto.

DATED this  2-7--day of June, 2019.

By

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 000878
MATTHEW T. DUSHOFF, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 004975
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I am an employee of Kolesar & Leatham, and that on the c2,1
 
day

of June, 2019, I caused to be served a true and correct copy of foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY

OF ORDER in the following manner:

(ELECTRONIC SERVICE) Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, the above-

referenced document was electronically filed on the date hereof and served through the Notice of

Electronic Filing automatically generated by that Court's facilities to those parties listed on the

Court's Master Service List.

An Employee/ KOLESAR & LEATHAM
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ODM
MICHAEL D. DAVIDSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 000878
KOLESAR & LEATHAM
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Telephone: (702) 362-7800
Facsimile: (702) 362-9472
E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com 

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
BOSSIE, REILLY & OH, P.C.
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260
Telephone: (602) 553-4552
Facsimile: (602) 553-4557
E-Mail: Melanie@wilkesmchugh.com

BENNIE LAZZARA JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.
1 N. Dale Mabry Hwy., Ste. 700
Tampa, Florida 33609
Telephone: (813) 873-0026
Facsimile: (813) 286-8820
Email: bennie@wilkesmchugh.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

* * *

Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA
LATRENTA, individually,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

SOUTH LAS VEGAS MEDICAL INVESTORS,
LLC dba LIFE CARE CENTER OF SOUTH
LAS VEGAS Vida LIFE CARE CENTER OF
PARADISE VALLEY; SOUTH LAS VEGAS
INVESTORS LIMITED PARTNERSHIP; LIFE
CARE CENTERS OF AMERICA, INC.; BINA
HRIBIK PORTELLO, Administrator; CARL
WAGNER, Administrator; and DOES 1-50,
inclusive,

Defendants.

3161029(9770-1) Page 1 of 3

Electronically Filed
6/26/2019 4:04 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERLC OF THE COU

Case No. A-17-750520-C

Dept No. XVIII

Consolidated With:
Case No. A-17-754013-C

ORDER DENYING PLAINTIFFS'
MOTION TO RECONSIDER

Date: June 5, 2019
Time: 9:00 a.m.

Case Number: A-17-750520-C
RESP - 290
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Estate of MARY CURTIS, deceased; LAURA
LATRENTA, as Personal Representative of the
Estate of MARY CURTIS; and LAURA
LATRENTA, individually,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

SAMIR SAXENA, M.D.; ANNABELLE
SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC.
aka THE HOSPITALIST COMPANY, INC.;
INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA,
INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE SERVICES OF
NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF
NEVADA, INC.; and DOES 51-100,

Defendant.

This matter having come before the Court on the June 5, 2019 at 9:00am John H. Cotton,

Esq. and Vincent J. Vitatoe, Esq. of John H. Cotton & Associates, LTD., on behalf of

ANNABELLE SOCAOCO, N.P.; IPC HEALTHCARE, INC. aka THE HOSPITALIST

COMPANY, INC.; INPATIENT CONSULTANTS OF NEVADA, INC.; IPC HEALTHCARE

SERVICES OF NEVADA, INC.; HOSPITALISTS OF NEVADA, INC ("IPC Defendants"),

Melanie Bossie, Esq, of Bossie, Reilly & Oh, P.C. and Michael D. Davidson, Esq. of Kolesar &

Leatham on behalf of the Plaintiffs. The Court, having considered the documents on file,

Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration, IPC Defendants' Opposition thereto, and Plaintiffs'

Reply, with good cause appearing Orders as follows:

1. Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration provides no clear error of law present in

this Court's previous Order entered April 24, 2019.

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

/ / /

III
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2. Consequently, this Court DENIES Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration.

DA  IED this  W  day of  -Sc ,v-ve._

Ju gel
In and f

Respectfully submitted by:

DATED this day of June, 2019.

KOLESAR & LEATHAM

By:
MICHAEL F DAVIDSON,
Nevada Bar No. 000878
KOLESAR & LEATHAM
400 South Rampart Boulevard, Suite 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89145
Telephone: (702) 362-7800
Facsimile: (702) 362-9472
E-Mail: mdavidson@klnevada.com

MELANIE L. BOSSIE, ESQ. - Pro Ileac Vice
BOSSIE, REILLY & OH, P.C.
15333 N. Pima Rd., Ste. 300
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260
Telephone:(602) 553-4552
Facsithile: (602) 553-4557
E-Mail: MelanieAwilkesmchugh.com 

BENNIE LAZZARA JR., ESQ. - Pro Hac Vice
WILKES & MCHUGH, P.A.
1 N. Dale Mabry Hwy., Ste. 700
Tampa, Florida 33609
Telephone: (813) 873-0026
Facsimile: (813) 286-8820
Email: bennieAwilkesmchugh.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

3161029 (9770-1)

, 2019
r

istric ourt
nty, Nevada

Approved as to form and content:

DATED this 21' day of June, 2019.

JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD.

By: Did not sign
JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar Number 5268
VINCENT J. VITATOE, ESQ.
Nevada Bar Number 12888
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117

Attorneys for IPC Defendants
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